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builds on an issue paper developed for the Working Group meeting in Rabat, 

Morocco in December 2017, and benefits from input by a thematic focus group 

composed of Rainer Geiger (Finance Watch), Shahad Abdulaziz Alissa (Capital 

Market Authority of Saudi Arabia), Bouchara  El Falaki (Autorite Marocaine su 

Marche des Capitaux), and Mohsen Adel (The Egyptian Exchange). 

 

The opinions and arguments employed herein are those of the author and do not 

necessarily reflect the views of the Organisation or its member countries. 

 

mailto:Fianna.jurdant@oecd.org
mailto:Catriona.marshall@oecd.org


      │ 1 
 

 
  



      │ 2 
 

Table of contents 

1. BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................................ 4 

2. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................. 6 

3. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE LANDSCAPE IN THE MENA REGION ............................... 8 

3.1. The legal framework for corporate governance ............................................................................ 8 
3.2. Creating a corporate governance eco-system in the MENA region: regulators and other 

institutions .......................................................................................................................................... 10 
3.3. Factors affecting corporate governance practices in the MENA region ..................................... 13 

3.3.1. Development of capital markets ........................................................................................... 13 
3.3.2. Ownership structure ............................................................................................................. 14 
3.3.3. Legal system and business culture ....................................................................................... 15 

4. TRANSPARENCY AND DISCLOSURE: KEY ISSUES ............................................................ 16 

4.1. International standards on transparency and disclosure .............................................................. 16 
4.2. Transparency and disclosure in the MENA region ..................................................................... 19 

4.2.1. Disclosure obligations of MENA listed companies ............................................................. 19 
4.2.2. Evaluations of corporate governance disclosure in MENA economies ............................... 20 
4.2.3. Disclosure of beneficial ownership ...................................................................................... 27 
4.2.4. Information on board members ............................................................................................ 27 
4.2.5. Remuneration of board members ......................................................................................... 27 
4.2.6. Auditing report ..................................................................................................................... 28 
4.2.7. Related party transactions (RPTs) ........................................................................................ 28 
4.2.8. Disclosure practices of the largest listed companies in the MENA region .......................... 29 

5. DISCLOSURE OF OWNERSHIP ................................................................................................. 35 

5.1. Legislative and regulatory approaches ........................................................................................ 36 
5.1.1. Who shall disclose? .............................................................................................................. 36 
5.1.2. Definition of beneficial ownership ....................................................................................... 37 
5.1.3. Deadlines for disclosure ....................................................................................................... 38 
5.1.4. Practices in MENA ............................................................................................................... 40 

6. DISCLOSURE OF RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ....................................................... 49 

6.1. Legislative and regulatory approaches ........................................................................................ 49 
6.1.1. Practices in MENA ............................................................................................................... 51 

7. MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT OF STANDARDS...................................................... 55 

7.1. Global trends in corporate governance monitoring and enforcement ......................................... 55 
7.1.1. Practises in MENA economies ............................................................................................. 56 

8. KEY CHALLENGES AND POLICY OPTIONS......................................................................... 58 

8.1. Key findings ................................................................................................................................ 58 



      │ 3 
 

8.2. Policy implications ..................................................................................................................... 59 
8.2.1. Models on Disclosure Regulation ........................................................................................ 62 
8.2.2. The choice between mandatory and voluntary disclosure .................................................... 63 
8.2.3. Supervision and Enforcement .............................................................................................. 64 
8.2.4. Shareholder engagement ...................................................................................................... 65 

8.3. Recommendations on the disclosure of ownership ..................................................................... 66 
8.4. Recommendations on the Disclosure of Related party transactions ........................................... 68 

Annex A. The largest 20 MENA Companies ..................................................................................... 73 

Annex B. Definition of related party transactions in selected MENA economies ......................... 74 

9. REFERENCES ................................................................................................................................ 80 

 

Tables 

Table 3.1. Corporate Governance Codes in MENA ................................................................................ 9 
Table 4.1. Global competitiveness, strength of auditing and accounting  standards (1-7), 2017-2018 . 25 
Table 4.2. World Bank Doing Business 2018-Protecting Minority Rights ........................................... 26 
Table 4.3. Information disclosed by the largest 15 companies in the MENA region ............................ 30 
Table 4.4. The least prevalent disclosed items by the 15 largest MENA companies ............................ 33 
Table 5.1. Disclosure obligations of substantial shareholders ............................................................... 41 
Table 5.2. Materiality threshold in disclosure of related party transactions .......................................... 45 
Table 8: Materiality threshold in disclosure of related party transactions ............................................. 50 
Table 9: Policy options for corporate governance disclosure ................................................................ 61 
 

Figures 

Figure 4.1. Doing Business Conflict of Interest Regulation Index (0-10), 2018 ................................... 22 
Figure 4.2. Doing Business Shareholder Governance Index (0-10), 2018 ............................................ 23 
Figure 8.1. Main policy areas for better corporate governance disclosure ............................................ 60 
 

Boxes 

Box 3.1. Egypt Stock Exchange role on promoting disclosure ............................................................. 12 
Box 4.1. Recent EU legislations on transparency and disclosure .......................................................... 18 
Box 4.2. The World Bank Doing Business Methodology (Protecting Minority Investors) .................. 21 
Box 4.3. Recent improvements in the Saudi Arabia Corporate Governance Framework (Disclosure 

and transparency) .......................................................................................................................... 24 
Box 5.1. Recent international efforts on transparency .......................................................................... 39 
Box 5.2. Ultimate beneficial ownership disclosure in Saudi Arabia ..................................................... 48 
Box 8.1. Initiatives for effective investor relations ............................................................................... 66 
Box 8.2. The Asian Roundtable “Guidelines for fighting abusive related party transactions in Asia” . 69 
Box 8.3. The Omani regime for disclosure of related party transactions .............................................. 71 
 

  

 



      │ 4 
 

1.  BACKGROUND 

The MENA-OECD Competitiveness Programme
1
 (formerly the MENA-OECD 

Investment Programme) was launched in 2016 at the request of Middle East and North 

African (MENA) governments. The Programme of Work (2016-2020) was agreed at the 

2016 MENA-OECD Ministerial Conference, held in Tunis, Tunisia. The Programme 

provides a platform for OECD and MENA economies to discuss strategic responses to 

common challenges in the region and explore ways to boost inclusive growth, 

employment and foster regional and international integration. 

The objective of the MENA-OECD Competitiveness Programme is to support reforms by 

mobilising investment, private sector development and entrepreneurship to boost growth 

and employment in the region. To achieve this objective, the Programme adopts a 

horizontal approach of policy dialogue and consensus building through the exchange of 

experiences and good practices as well as capacity building to identify, implement and 

monitor business climate reforms.  

The MENA-OECD Competitiveness Programme builds on the preceding work conducted 

under the 2005 MENA-OECD Investment Programme, and includes activities under the 

auspices of the MENA-OECD Working Group on Corporate Governance.  

The MENA-OECD Working Group on Corporate Governance (hereafter Working Group) 

supports the development of sound corporate governance frameworks and practices as an 

essential building block for MENA economies to boost competitiveness, develop the 

private sector, attract capital and promote investment. This work will build on corporate 

governance reform efforts and progress made in the MENA region using international 

standards as a benchmark to support implementation of the region’s policy priorities. In 

this context, the OECD provides policy advice underpinned by comparative and 

analytical work with a view to support policy formation and implementation at national 

and regional level in MENA economies. Building on a decade of experience, this 

approach will promote regional co-operation and mutual learning amongst relevant 

players, including regional and international institutions and the private sector.  

A crucial issue in this new phase is transparency and disclosure in listed companies, a key 

component of the framework needed to promote private sector development in the 

MENA region. Transparency and disclosure is the basis for efficient capital allocation 

and a sound capital market. Assuring that investor rights are being protected attracts 

domestic and foreign investors to participate in the capital market by creating an 

environment of trust, transparency and accountability.  

                                                      
1
 The MENA-OECD Competitiveness Programme covers the following jurisdictions: Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, 

Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, 

Tunisia, United Arab Emirates and Yemen.  
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This report is the first step in understanding the current legal framework and practices in 

MENA’s largest companies. Analysis throughout the report is based on publicly available 

information, survey responses, as well as inputs from practitioners in the region. A draft 

of this report was presented and discussed at the 2017 meeting of the Working Group, 

held in Rabat, Morocco on the 12-13 December. Building on the meeting discussion, a 

thematic focus group with representatives from MENA economies was established to 

further develop the report. This revised version with policy recommendations will be 

discussed at the 2018 meeting of the Working Group in Lisbon, Portugal on 4-5 July 

2018.  

This report has been developed by Aysegul Eksit and the OECD Secretariat and will 

provide background to the discussion on Policy options for greater transparency and 

disclosure in MENA at the MENA-OECD Working Group on Corporate Governance in 

Lisbon, Portugal on 4-5 July 2018. The content of the report builds on an issue paper 

developed for the Working Group meeting in Rabat, Morocco in December 2017 and 

benefits from input by a thematic focus group composed of Rainer Geiger (Finance 

Watch), Shahad Abdulaziz Alissa (Capital Market Authority of Saudi Arabia), Bouchara 

El Falaki (Autorité Marocaine du Marché des Capitaux), and Mohsen Adel (The Egyptian 

Exchange). The OECD is most grateful to the Swedish International Development 

Cooperation Agency (SIDA) for their continued support of this work.  
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2.  INTRODUCTION  

The disclosure of accurate, timely and relevant information is critical for the decision 

making of investors, capital allocation and the sound functioning of capital markets that 

aim to support stronger economic growth. Without relevant and timely dissemination of 

information to the market, investors cannot properly evaluate opportunities and risks. 

Companies need sound financial information in order to make business decisions and 

subsequently shareholders need accurate and timely disclosure to monitor the company’s 

management. Disclosure is also fundamental to facilitating access to finance, which is 

particularly important for growth companies. 

Better disclosure lowers the cost of capital (Barth, Konchitchki, Landsman, 2013), 

reduces monitoring costs, heightens investor confidence and strengthens market 

competitiveness (Leuz and Wysocki, 2015). In contrast, weak disclosure promotes 

informational asymmetries and encourages behavioural misconduct. In turn this increases 

monitoring costs and weakens investor confidence, which is detrimental to capital market 

development. To attract equity investment, a sound corporate governance framework is 

essential, which requires credible disclosure.  

The G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (The Principles) emphasise that a 

sound corporate governance framework should promote transparent and fair markets and 

the efficient allocation of resources. The Principles contain a chapter on disclosure and 

transparency, which establishes that a country’s corporate governance framework should 

ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is made on all material matters regarding the 

corporation, including the financial situation, performance, ownership and governance of 

the company. 

Considering that investors look at corporate governance frameworks and practices as a 

part of their investment decisions, countries with better governance and transparency are 

in a better position to attract finance. There has been an increasing demand for disclosure 

and transparency by investors, especially after the 2008-2009 global financial crisis. A 

survey conducted among institutional investors in 2012 found that corporate governance 

is a critical factor for emerging market investments (Khanna and Zyla, 2017). All 

investors surveyed claim that governance is part of their pre-investment due diligence on 

a target firm. More than half of the respondents report that they would pay at least 10% 

more for a well-governed firm compared to a similar company with poor governance 

practices in the same emerging market. Another key finding of the survey is that 

transparency and disclosure is of critical importance and emerging market investors are 

reluctant to invest in non-transparent companies (Khanna and Zyla, 2017).  

The global financial crisis and previous crises in emerging markets highlighted the risks 

of poor corporate governance and the strong signals it sends to governments to review 

their corporate governance frameworks. It is not surprising that many countries adopt new 

standards to improve their regulations in an environment where investment decisions are 

connected to governance concerns. MENA economies have also implemented a number 
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of initiatives to improve their corporate governance structures linked to transparency and 

disclosure regulations. Yet, gaps are still observed the region. One of the main concerns 

of foreign investors in the MENA region has been the quality of disclosure practices 

(Crescent Enterprises, 2016).  

The objective of this report is to identify the key challenges faced by MENA economies 

with respect to disclosure and transparency and to suggest policy options in this area to 

support future initiatives of MENA capital market regulators, stock exchanges, private 

companies, academics and other interested parties. The findings are intended to increase 

understanding of transparency and disclosure practices in the region by analysing 

important trends and challenges. The report also highlights issues that require 

improvement. Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, 

Mauritania Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, Palestinian Authority, the 

United Arab Emirates, Yemen are the  included in the scope in this report.  

This report begins by reviewing the corporate governance landscape in the MENA region. 

Common features and trends affecting the business environment, legal and regulatory 

framework, key institutions dealing with transparency and disclosure and issues in the 

area are discussed. It also briefly addresses the main international standards on disclosure 

and transparency and the initiatives adopted by the EU and the US for enhancing 

transparency after the global financial crisis. Further, the study provides a review of 

evaluations by international organisations on disclosure regulations and disclosure 

practices of the largest MENA listed companies by analysing annual reports. Based on 

these findings, two areas of transparency and disclosure practises, namely disclosure of 

beneficial ownership and disclosure of related party transactions, are the focus of this 

report. The main challenges and policy options in the region are discussed in detail at the 

end of the report.  
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3.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE LANDSCAPE IN THE MENA REGION  

The corporate governance landscape impacts the effectiveness of corporate governance 

policies and regulations in a country. This section outlines the corporate governance 

landscape in the MENA region including the legal framework, the role of regulators and 

stock exchanges, ownership structure and business culture, to determine to what extent 

challenges in these areas affect transparency and disclosure.   

3.1. The legal framework for corporate governance  

The legal framework dealing with transparency and disclosure in the region, in line with 

the global practices, is comprised mainly of the national corporate law, securities law, 

listing rules and corporate governance codes. MENA authorities acknowledge the role of 

strong disclosure and transparency in the development of capital markets and attracting 

investors. Ongoing initiatives to strengthen disclosure and transparency are observed 

across the region (World Bank 2017a). Nearly half of all jurisdictions (7 out of 16) 

reported updating Company Law or Securities Law since 2014 (OECD 2017a). Between 

2015 and 2016, four jurisdictions (Bahrain, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and UAE) adopted new 

Company Law. These initiatives have increased the focus on corporate governance issues, 

such as related party transactions, takeover regulations and minority rights and provide 

further clarity and improvement in the business environment of the respective economies.  

Although corporate governance is a relatively new issue in the MENA region, codes have 

been developed all over the region since 2002 (Table 3.1). Oman and Egypt were the first 

countries adopting corporate governance codes in 2002 and 2005 respectively. Between 

2005 and 2009, 11 corporate governance codes have been adopted in the region 

(Koldertsova, 2011). Iraq has not yet introduced a corporate governance code but a draft 

corporate governance code was prepared by a committee composed of the Iraq Securities 

Commission, the Iraq Registrar of Companies and the Iraq Central Bank (UASA, 2016). 

The revision of codes has been recently accelerated. Oman, Qatar, UAE and Saudi Arabia 

have revised their corporate governance codes since 2015.   

The implementation mechanism for corporate governance codes varies across MENA 

economies. Similar to global practices, the “comply or explain” approach is widely used 

in MENA economies, providing flexibility for companies with different characteristics. 

The Codes of Corporate Governance in Bahrain and  Egypt. are applied on a “comply or 

explain” approach. In certain economies mandatory requirements (Jordan, Oman, Qatar, 

UAE Federal) or a mixed approach (Kuwait, Palestinian Authority, Saudi Arabia, UAE 

DIFC) prevail. Lastly, Algeria, Lebanon, Morocco, Tunisia, and Yemen have opted for 

voluntary implementation. 

With regard to MENA practices, disclosure of corporate governance reports is not 

mandatory in some countries, such as Morocco and Egypt. The National Code only 

recommends the companies to include a corporate governance report in their annual 

reports, but this recommendation has not been applied by most of the listed companies in 
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Morocco and Egypt as indicated by an EBRD study conducted in 2014-2015 (Cigna and 

Meziou, 2017a, Cigna, Djuric and Sigheartau,  2017). None of the ten largest Moroccan 

listed companies disclosed any information on their compliance with the Code or 

published such a chapter in their annual reports. Similarly, only two out of the ten largest 

Egyptian listed companies provided a corporate governance report with the annual report 

and even these statements are not very informative (Cigna, Djuric and Sigheartau, 2017).  

 

Table 3.1. Corporate Governance Codes in MENA 

Jurisdiction Custodians/Regulators First 

Code 

Approach 

(Public/private/stock exchange/mixed 

initiative) 

C/E: comply 

or explain 

B: Binding 

V: voluntary 

Algeria Algerian Institute for Corporate 

Governance (Hawkama El 

Djazair) 

Private 2009 V 

Bahrain Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB)  Public 2010 C/E 

Egypt Egyptian Financial Supervisory 

Authority (EFSA) 

Public 2005 C/E 

Jordan Jordan Securities Commission 

(JSC) 

Public         

2008 

      B 

Kuwait Capital Market Authority Public 2013 B 

Lebanon Capital Market Authority / 

Banque du Liban/LCGTF 

Mixed 2011 V 

Morocco National Corporate Governance 

Commission  

Mixed 2008 V 

Oman Capital Markets Authority 

(CMA) 

Public 2002 B  

Palestinian 

Authority 

Palestine Capital Market 

Authority 

Public 2009 B & C/E 

Qatar Qatar Financial Markets 

Authority 

Public 2009 B 

Saudi Arabia Capital Market Authority /Saudi 

Stock Exchange 

Public 2006 B & C/E 

http://www.algeriacorporategovernance.org/
http://www.cbb.gov.bh/
http://www.efsa.gov.eg/jtags/efsa_en/index_en.jsp
http://www.efsa.gov.eg/jtags/efsa_en/index_en.jsp
http://www.jsc.gov.jo/public/mainEnglish.aspx?page_id=1454
http://www.jsc.gov.jo/public/mainEnglish.aspx?page_id=1454
http://www.kuwaitcma.org/
http://www.cma.gov.om/
http://www.cma.gov.om/
http://www.pcma.ps/portal/english/Pages/Home.aspx
http://www.pcma.ps/portal/english/Pages/Home.aspx
http://www.qfma.org.qa/English/Home.aspx
http://www.qfma.org.qa/English/Home.aspx
http://www.cma.org.sa/En/Pages/home.aspx
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Tunisia Conseil du marché financier 

(CMF)/Tunisian Corporate 

Governance Center 

Mixed 2008 V 

UAE DIFC Dubai Financial Services 

Authority 

Public 2004 B & C/E 

UAE Federal  Emirates Securities and 

Commodities Authority (ESCA)  

Public 2007 B 

Yemen Yemeni Business Club Private 2010 V 

Source:  OECD, 2018 

In addition to general corporate governance codes for listed companies, there are also 

several other corporate governance codes or guidelines addressing specific types of 

companies such as banks and state-owned enterprises. For example, ten Central Banks 

issued separate codes for banks in the region. Similarly, three state-owned enterprise 

codes have been adopted in the region. A number of MENA economies (such as 

Lebanon, Morocco and the United Arab Emirates) have introduced voluntary codes for 

SMEs.  

3.2. Creating a corporate governance eco-system in the MENA region: regulators 

and other institutions 

The regulatory and supervisory authorities in MENA capital markets are relatively recent 

institutions. The development of modern securities legislation started in the region during 

the 1990s. Algeria and Morocco were the first to establish regulatory institutions in 1993 

while Kuwait and Lebanon were the most recent countries of the MENA region to create 

a capital market regulator in 2010 and 2011, respectively. The sectoral model of financial 

supervision is generally accepted in the MENA region (Algeria, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, 

Lebanon, Morocco, Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Tunisia, Saudi Arabia, and the 

UAE). Egypt has an integrated sectoral model (a single supervisor for capital markets and 

insurance) while Bahrain has a single authority for financial markets (the Central Bank of 

Bahrain).  

In addition to securities authorities, other institutions also have responsibilities related to 

corporate governance enforcement in some MENA countries (e.g. the Ministries of 

Commerce and Industry in Bahrain, Ministry of Commerce and Investment, Monetary 

Authority in Saudi Arabia, Central Banks in Egypt, Jordan and the GCC countries).  

The regulators promote good corporate governance by conducting training and public 

awareness activities in the region.  Awareness announcements such as those done by the 

Kuwait Capital Markets Authority are also a good way to inform the market participants 

about important issues and requirements. This type of announcement raises awareness 

about the issues that the regulatory authority works on and encourages companies to 

apply good practices.  

The main roles of stock exchanges in promoting good corporate governance in the region 

have been through the issuance of listing rules and disclosure standards and monitoring 

compliance (OECD, 2012), but the roles vary in each country. In MENA economies, 

http://www.cmf.org.tn/
http://www.cmf.org.tn/
http://www.sca.gov.ae/english/pages/default.aspx
http://www.sca.gov.ae/english/pages/default.aspx
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corporate governance codes were generally introduced by securities regulators, but some 

exchanges, including Oman, Jordan and Egypt incorporated good governance 

requirements into listing rules (OECD, 2012). Hence, the websites of MENA stock 

exchanges provide information on corporate governance practices of listed companies, 

and Corporate Governance Code is subject to surveillance by stock exchanges in eight 

economies (Bahrain, Egypt, Morocco, Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Tunisia, and 

the UAE).  

In addition, MENA stock exchanges are furthering their efforts on sustainability issues. 

The Egyptian Stock Exchange (Box 3.1) was one of the first of five stock exchanges 

which made a public commitment to advancing sustainability in their market in 2012 

through the United Nations Sustainable Stock Exchanges Initiative.  Since 2012, the 

Sustainable Stock Exchanges Initiative (SSE), an initiative to enhance corporate 

transparency and performance on environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) 

issues and to encourage sustainable investment, has grown to 66 exchanges partnering 

and the initiative has seven partnering stock exchanges from the MENA region (Egypt, 

Jordan, Kuwait, Morocco, Qatar, Tunisia and the UAE).  

Moreover, several private institutions focusing on corporate governance have been 

established in the MENA region during the 2000s. For example, the Egyptian Institute of 

Directors was established in 2003 to promote corporate governance. Similarly, the 

Hawkamah Institute for Corporate Governance was established in Dubai in 2006 to assist 

companies in developing globally recognised corporate governance frameworks. More 

recently, institutions such as the Algerian Corporate Governance Center, Jordan Institute 

of Directors (2012), Lebanese Institute of Directors (2011), Moroccan Institute of 

Directors (2009), Oman Center for Corporate Governance and Sustainability (2015), 

Saudi Governance Center (2017) and Tunisian Institute for Corporate Governance (2009) 

have been established to promote best practices of corporate governance, among other 

aims, in their respective economies and in the region. The regional institutions such as the 

Union of Arab Securities Authorities and the Arab Federation of Exchanges also have 

activities aimed at enhancing corporate governance in the MENA region.  
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Box 3.1. Egypt Stock Exchange role on promoting disclosure 

Egypt has a long tradition of capital markets, as the first stock exchange in the MENA 

region was established in Egypt in the late 19th century. The number of listed companies 

increased dramatically after the 1990s partly due to significant privatisation programs 

undertaken in Egypt. However, the number of listed companies on the Egypt stock 

exchange decreased drastically from 1075 in 2000 to 255 in 2017 (WB, WFE) since 

companies that were untraded and/or not complying with listing rules were delisted. 

Despite the large number of delistings, EGX remained the largest MENA stock exchange 

in terms of number of listed companies as of 2017. 

The Egypt Exchange makes considerable efforts to boost transparency of listed 

companies. In this regard, listing rules which provide for a number of mandatory 

corporate governance requirements, have been continuously amended to ensure more 

transparency in the market. Listing rules include disclosure requirements (financial 

reporting, corporate actions, material events, shareholding structure, BoD and General 

meetings), the obligation to have an independent audit committee and some rules with 

regard to related party transactions. The Electronic Disclosure System, which enables 

listed companies to send their disclosures to EGX electronically, was introduced in 2015. 

The Exchange has also been working to promote greater transparency of high-quality 

environmental, social and governance (ESG) information. EGX was one of four pioneer 

exchanges that joined the United Nations' Sustainable Stock Exchanges initiative (SSE) 

in 2009. The aim of the initiative, established by the UN Secretary-General, is to provide 

an effective platform for peer-to-peer dialogue among global exchanges on ESG issues 

and to encourage sustainable investment. Additionally, EGX launched its S&P EGX ESG 

index in March 2010 and the "EGX Model Guidance for Reporting on ESG Performance 

and SDGs" in 2016. 

Source: EGX, Sustainable Stock Exchange Initiative 

 

 

These institutions have been actively involved in promoting corporate governance 

activities through research, conferences, training and advisory services. In 2011 

Hawkamah launched the first MENA wide Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) 

Index in cooperation with Standard & Poor’s in order to encourage MENA listed 

companies to pursue sustainable business practices through improved environmental and 

socially responsible operations. The Index covers the 50 highest scoring companies in 

terms of environmental, social and corporate governance responsibility from the 150 

biggest companies in Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Kuwait, Qatar, Bahrain, 

Oman, Jordan, Egypt, Lebanon, Morocco and Tunisia. The Union of Arab Securities 

Authorities issued a guideline on the code of corporate governance for listed companies 

in the Arab financial markets in July 2017 with the goal of reducing the obstacles faced 

by Arab countries in applying the rules of governance. Furthermore, the Governance 

Center at Alfaisal University – College of Business has launched a Corporate Governance 

Index (CGI) to monitor and promote good governance practices among corporations 



      │ 13 
 

doing business in Saudi Arabia in 2017. All of these activities are important since the 

results of corporate governance reforms depend on public-private cooperation and a high 

level awareness of best practices by practitioners.  

Morocco is a good example of strong public private cooperation to build commitment for 

corporate governance reforms. A National Corporate Governance Commission was 

established in 2007 and led jointly by the public sector (Ministry of Economic and 

General Affairs) and private sector (General Confederation of Moroccan Enterprises). 

The National Code of Corporate Governance was issued by the joint Commission in 2008 

and the Moroccan Institute of Directors was established in 2010 (OECD, 2012).  

Better international cooperation would also further strengthen a country’s efforts to adopt 

and implement international best practices. Currently securities regulators of 12 MENA 

economies
1
 are ordinary members of the IOSCO. Nevertheless, only two economies 

(UAE and Egypt) are members of the International Forum of International Audit 

Regulators (IFIAR). Participation in international dialogue is especially useful for the 

exchange of experiences, improving institutional capacity and implementing effective 

enforcement for securities markets.  

3.3. Factors affecting corporate governance practices in the MENA region 

The adoption and implementation of better corporate principles is a challenging process 

in the MENA region due to the distinctive features of the region which is characterised by 

concentrated ownership (dominated by families and the state), less developed capital 

markets and relatively non-transparent business culture as discussed below.    

3.3.1. Development of capital markets 

The MENA region comprises of economies at different stages of financial market 

development, but some common features can be identified in the region. MENA banking 

systems dominate the region’s financial landscape, with bank deposits in 2015 accounting 

for 80% of GDP in the region, compared with only 50% for the World average (World 

Bank Global Financial Development Database, GFDD). The average private credit to 

GDP ratio in the region, with the exception of GCC countries, is comparable with their 

peers. Average banking intermediation in GCC countries for the period of 2011-2015 was 

54%, substantially below peer countries (78% for EU15) based on the World Bank 

GFDD. In addition to this, the size of MENA stock markets as of 2016 (1.77% share in 

the world market capitalisation) is very low compared to its contribution the World GDP 

(MENA GDP represents 3.1% of World GDP). 

As of the end of 2016, MENA equity markets
2
 had 1 480 listed companies with market 

capitalisation of USD 1 095 billion. The market capitalisation varies among MENA 

economies. Stock market capitalisation is nearly 100 % of GDP in Qatar and 69% in 

Saudi Arabia, for instance, compared with 19% in Tunisia and 9.9% in Egypt (World 

Bank Development Indicators Database, 2017).  

In addition, high concentration of banking intermediation, high collateral requirements, 

limited sectoral diversification and high share of big companies in capital markets imply 

that access to finance remains a constraint to the development of the private sector, 

especially for small and medium sized enterprises and growth companies. Deep and 

efficient capital markets could help to improve access to finance. There are various 

efforts by MENA governments to develop their capital markets starting with the 

establishment of stock exchanges and adoption of capital market regulation since 1980s. 
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These have continued with the adoption of corporate governance codes, recent reviews of 

company law and securities market laws.  

Several studies suggest that there is a positive link between strong corporate governance 

and capital market development. Better corporate governance structure promotes deeper, 

more liquid, and more efficient capital markets (The World Bank, 2017; IMF, 2016).  

There is also evidence that company level corporate governance quality can enhance both 

a company’s ability to access finance and its financial performance (Haque, Thankom,  

Kirkpatrick, 2008; IMF, 2016). Furthermore, companies with better governance have 

higher overall returns (Cheung, et al, 2014). In line with this result, the Hawkamah/S&P 

Pan Arab ESG Index, which tracks the top 50 listed companies in 11 MENA markets that 

have superior performance according to environmental, social, and governance factors, 

has outperformed the pan Arab S&P Index since its launch in 2011. This result suggests 

that investors have taken into account corporate governance practices when deciding 

where to invest. 

Nonetheless, MENA corporate governance practices are often perceived as not 

sufficiently developed to attract investors and to contribute to capital markets 

development. Currently a large number of MENA companies are listed abroad
4
 and these 

are generally subject to higher disclosure standards (GOVERN, 2016). It is argued that 

cross listing is a way for companies to overcome regulatory and institutional constraints 

in their home markets since controlling insiders of these companies cannot sufficiently 

assure foreign investors in economies with weak regulatory environment; so cross listing 

is seen as an alternative way to reassure outside investors (Leuz, Wysocki, 2016).  

3.3.2. Ownership structure 

The literature suggests that ownership structures can affect disclosure quality. For 

example, the quality of voluntary disclosure increases when the ownership is less 

concentrated. Further, concentrated ownership or family ownership is negatively 

associated with voluntary disclosure.  

The majority of listed MENA companies have concentrated shareholders in the form of 

sovereign investors or founding shareholders, such as families (OECD, 2014). A recent 

analysis of the 600 largest firms listed on the region’s exchanges, which constitutes 97% 

of total market capitalisation, demonstrates that sovereign investors are the largest 

investor category in all MENA markets with the exception of Lebanon and Tunisia, while 

family offices are the second biggest investor group (GOVERN, 2016). Another study on 

GCC markets also finds that ownership in GCC countries is concentrated and the median 

of shareholder blocks
3
 holds more than 26% of total shares in GCC countries (Santos, 

2015). 

There are also studies in the MENA region that show a link between regional ownership 

structure and transparency. For example, Klai and Omri (2011) argue that the presence of 

blockholders and families in Tunisian firms reduces financial disclosure quality. Al-

Janadi, Rahman and Omar (2013) suggest that government ownership has a negative 

impact on voluntary disclosure in Saudi listed companies, while Juhmani (2013) proves 

that Bahraini firms with a high percentage of blockholder ownership disclose less 

voluntary information than firms with a low block holder ownership. 
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3.3.3. Legal system and business culture 

Disclosure level may also interact with the legal system (common law or civil law) and 

historical/economic relations with Anglo-America or Continental Europe.  The majority 

of legal regimes in MENA follow a civil code. Research reveals that common law 

markets have substantially higher levels of disclosure practice than civil law ones. With 

respect to the effects of historical and economic relations, Othman and Zeghal (2010) 

documented significant differences among economies by studying the annual reports of 

216 companies from 13 MENA economies. Their findings argue that transparency and 

disclosure levels  in MENA companies with  privileged economic ties to Anglo-America 

(Egypt, Jordan, the GCC countries) were much better than those of MENA companies 

having historical and economic relations with Continental Europe (Tunisia, Morocco, 

Lebanon).  

The distinctive features of the MENA region and government initiatives summarised 

above suggest that corporate governance development is not market driven, but usually 

government-led in the MENA region.  
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4.  TRANSPARENCY AND DISCLOSURE: KEY ISSUES 

4.1. International standards on transparency and disclosure  

The G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance represent an important step in 

developing international disclosure practices for listed companies. Chapter V of the 

Principles provides useful guidance on disclosure and transparency. This chapter notes 

that timely and accurate disclosure should include, but is not limited to, material 

information on the following: 

‒ The financial and operating results of the company, 

‒ Company objectives and non-financial information, 

‒ Major share ownership and voting rights,  

‒ Remuneration of members of the board and key executives,  

‒ Information about board members, including their qualifications, the selection 

process, other company directorships, and whether they are regarded as 

independent by the board,  

‒ Related-party transactions, 

‒ Foreseeable risk factors, 

‒ Issues regarding employees and other stakeholders, 

‒ Governance structure and policies. 

According to the Principles, disclosure should be carried out through periodic reports and 

all material developments that arise in between.  

The 2015 version of the Principles introduces some new issues and adds clarity on the 

topic of disclosure and transparency. The key changes in the Disclosure and Transparency 

Chapter of the Principles are summarised below: 

‒ Equitable treatment principles and reporting of material information is 

emphasised, 

‒ More clarity has been provided on the definition of material information, 

‒ Companies are encouraged to disclose non-financial information in addition to 

company objectives, 

‒ Greater emphasis is placed on disclosure of beneficial ownership,     

‒ Disclosure of directors’ and non-executives’ shareholdings is encouraged,  

‒ Recommendations on related party transactions are described in more detail and 

take international accounting standards into account, 

‒ Disclosure of roles and responsibilities of the CEO and Chair was introduced, 
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‒ Recommendations on auditing have been revised in line with international 

developments.  

Based on the lessons learned from the global financial crisis, other international 

organisations also accelerated their efforts to foster a fair, efficient and transparent 

market, which is crucial for investor protection in recent years. The International 

Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) published its revised Objectives and 

Principles of Securities Regulation in 2010. Timely and frequent disclosure of 

information on material and investment decisions was already enshrined in IOSCO 

Principle 16. In addition to Principle 16, the three new principles adopted in 2010 include 

specific policy principles related to disclosure and transparency. The importance of 

regulations on auditor independence and oversight and the disclosure of conflicts of 

interest are highlighted in the revised IOSCO principles.  

Moreover, IOSCO has two sets of high level principles on disclosure by listed companies:  

IOSCO Principles for Ongoing Disclosure and Material Development Reporting by 

Listed Entities (2002) and IOSCO Principles for the Periodic Disclosure of Listed 

Companies (2010). 

International accounting standards and international auditing standards are continuously 

being improved to ensure the truth and fairness of financial reports. As of March 2017, 

126 jurisdictions require International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for listed 

companies in their capital markets. This means approximately 49 000 domestic listed 

companies on the 88 major securities exchanges in the world use IFRS (IFRS Foundation, 

2017). Similarly, over 113 countries are using or are in the process of adopting the 

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (IAASB, 2017). The increasing number of 

countries using these international standards shows that investors around the world rely 

on the information provided in line with these standards. Therefore, improvements in the 

standards directly impact global capital markets by increasing transparency and cross 

border comparability.  

EU initiatives aimed at enhancing transparency were also accelerated after the adoption 

of the European Company Law and Corporate Governance Action Plan in 2012 (Box 

4.1).  
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Box 4.1. Recent EU legislations on transparency and disclosure 

The main EU legislations on transparency adopted in the wake of the global financial crisis 

are given below:  

‒ The EU Recommendation on directors' remuneration, which provides public 

disclosure of remuneration, adopted in 2009, 

‒ The EU Action Plan for Company Law and Corporate Governance, one of the 

main themes of which is transparency of listed companies, adopted in 2012, 

‒ Four EU Accounting Directives were amended and the obligation for EU listed 

companies to provide a corporate governance statement in their annual report was 

introduced in 2013, 

‒ The Transparency Directive regulating disclosure requirements for companies’ 

issuers listed in the EU, amended in 2013,   

‒ The EU Statutory Audit Directive, amended to strengthen audit quality in 2014,  

‒ The EU Accounting Directive, amended to introduce non-financial reporting 

requirement for large public-interest companies with more than 500 employees in 

2014, 

‒ EU Commission Recommendation on the quality of corporate governance 

reporting (‘comply or explain’), adopted in 2014, 

‒ EU Commission Guidelines on non-financial reporting (environmental, social and 

governance-related), adopted in 2017, 

‒ The EU Directive on Shareholders’ Rights, amended to establish transparency 

requirements for companies, institutional investors, asset managers and proxy 

advisors in 2017. 

Source: EU Commission, https://ec.europa.eu 

 

In the United States, a major disclosure effectiveness initiative to update and modernise 

specific disclosure requirements of listed companies was introduced in 2013. A report on 

modernisation and simplification of disclosure obligations was provided by the US 

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in January 2017. The US SEC proposed 

amendments to eliminate redundant, overlapping, outdated, or superseded provisions, in 

light of changes in the information environment. In addition to these efforts, the US 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) developed several proposals for 

maintaining the strength and comprehensiveness of US auditing standards in recent years. 

In June 2017, it adopted a new auditing standard to enhance the usefulness of the auditor's 

report by providing additional information to investors. 

In addition, the importance of disclosure on environmental and social matters was 

recently increased to enable sustainable finance and promote responsible investment. In 

line with this development, the G20/OECD Principles adopted in 2015 encourage 

https://ec.europa.eu/
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companies to disclose non-financial information relating to business ethics, the 

environment and, where material to the company, social issues and human rights.  

Currently, disclosure of non-financial information focusing on environmental and social 

issues has also started to become obligatory for large companies in many countries.  

As can be seen from these developments, many good initiatives have been adopted to 

improve transparency by providing additional information to the investors especially in 

the aftermath of the financial crisis. These amendments were introduced to address 

increasing demand from investors for better transparency and disclosure. The high level 

Principles continue to guide countries adopting and reviewing their national disclosure 

standards in capital markets. The Principles are also important for financial stability and 

widely accepted international disclosure standards can play a role in facilitating cross-

border investments.  

4.2. Transparency and disclosure in the MENA region 

Evaluations on corporate governance framework and disclosure practices in the MENA 

economies have been conducted by international organisations. The World Bank 

conducted six Corporate Governance Assessments (CG ROSC) for four MENA 

economies (Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, and Saudi Arabia) between 2001 and 2010. The 

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) conducted Corporate 

Governance Assessments in four countries (Egypt, Jordan, Tunisia, and Morocco) 

between 2014 and 2015. In addition to these evaluations, an OECD-Union of Arab 

Securities Authorities survey among MENA economies highlights disclosure practices of 

MENA economies on related party transactions. Furthermore, the World Bank Doing 

Business Reports measure the protection of minority investors through several 

dimensions of regulation that also address corporate transparency.  All of these 

evaluations and the current situation demonstrate that corporate governance structure and 

practice in the MENA region have evolved in the last two decades.  

This section reviews disclosure obligations of MENA listed companies according to the 

main findings of international organisations’ evaluations and presents disclosure practices 

of the top 20 MENA listed companies in order to highlight common issues in the region 

that need to be addressed.  

4.2.1. Disclosure obligations of MENA listed companies 

Transparency and disclosure practices of MENA listed companies, in line with 

international standards and best practices, concern periodic and ongoing disclosure. 

Periodic information generally includes financial information (yearly, interim financial 

reports, annual reports, etc.). Ongoing disclosure includes material changes in direct and 

indirect beneficial ownership and ad hoc price sensitive information.   

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are required in most MENA 

economies (Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, 

Saudi Arabia, the UAE and Yemen) (IFRS Foundation, 2017). Seven MENA economies 

(Bahrain, Jordan, Kuwait, Palestinian Authority, Tunisia, Saudi Arabia and the UAE) are 

using or are in the process of adopting or incorporating International Standards on 

Auditing (The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, 2017).  

The findings of the Hawkamah report (2017) based on the 150 largest and most liquid 

companies listed on 11 MENA market (Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Kuwait, 

Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia and the UAE) suggest that MENA 
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companies improved their disclosure practices, including disclosure of non-financial 

information. The study compared disclosure amongst the largest listed companies 

between 2007 and 2017 on several categories including information on corporate 

strategy, ownership, boards of directors, board meetings, board composition, board 

evaluations, executive remuneration and environmental and social factors. It found that 

the transparency and disclosure levels of MENA listed companies improved significantly 

in recent years. This result reflects the positive impacts of MENA authorities’ and listed 

companies’ efforts in the area.   

On the other hand, in order to limit administrative burdens on companies, proportional 

disclosure requirements have been adopted in the case of specialized SME markets in the 

MENA region. As emphasised by the Principles, disclosure regulations should not place 

unreasonable administrative or cost burdens on companies. To facilitate this approach, the 

companies listing on the Egypt Nilex have lighter disclosure requirements with regard to 

quarterly and semi-annual financial statements. Similarly, for listed companies on the 

Saudi Arabia Tadawul Parallel market, the latest established SME market in the region, 

the disclosure standards of annual reports by listing rules is not mandatory (just 

indicative) and the deadline for publishing financial statements is more lenient compared 

to that of the main market. 

4.2.2. Evaluations of corporate governance disclosure in MENA economies  

Despite the improvements of disclosure regulations, some gaps are identified by 

international organisations. For instance, the World Bank Doing Business Report and the 

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Report give some indications with 

regard to the areas that need regulatory improvements.  

The World Bank Doing Business Report, which covers 11 areas of business regulation 

across 190 economies, also measures issues in relation to corporate governance through 

the ‘protecting minority investors’ indicator set.  The ‘protecting minority investors’ 

indicator set provides data for several corporate governance aspects, grouped into two 

sets. The first set of indicators focuses on the regulation of conflicts of interest, 

specifically in relation to related-party transactions. The second set of indicators covers 

general corporate governance issues, including shareholder rights, disclosure of 

ownership structure, information on board members and senior executives and audit 

transparency (See Box 4.2 for Doing Business Methodology). In other words, this topic 

measures the strength of minority shareholder protections against misuse of corporate 

assets by directors as well as shareholder rights and corporate transparency requirements 

that reduce the risk of abuse (WB 2017b). 
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Box 4.2. The World Bank Doing Business Methodology (Protecting Minority Investors) 

The World Bank Doing Business report measures the protection of minority investors 

through two sets of indices (conflicts of interest regulation index and shareholders’ rights 

index). The two indices taken from the World Bank Doing Business Index assess the 

degree of investor protection against the misuse of corporate assets by directors for 

personal gain. The data comes from a questionnaire administered to corporate and 

securities lawyers. The report is based on securities regulations, company laws, civil 

procedure codes and court rules of evidence. Non-mandatory rules or recommendations, 

such as guidelines and principles are not taken into account for measurement. 

The minority investors index is a simple average of the conflict of interest regulation 

index and the shareholders’ rights index. The index ranges from 0 to 10, with higher 

values indicating stronger minority investor protections. The ranking of economies on the 

strength of minority investor protection is determined by sorting their distance to frontier 

scores. 

Extent of conflict of 

interest 

regulation index (0-

10) 

Simple average of the 

extent of disclosure, 

the extent of director 

liability and the ease 

of shareholder suits 

indices 

Extent of disclosure index (0-10) 

 Review and approval requirements for related-party 

transactions 

 Internal, immediate and periodic disclosure 

requirements for related-party transactions 

Extent of director liability index (0-10) 

 Minority shareholders’ ability to sue and hold 

interested directors liable for prejudicial related 

party transactions 

 Available legal remedies (damages, disgorgement of 

profits, disqualification, rescission of transactions) 

 

Ease of shareholder suits index (0-10) 

 Access to internal corporate documents 

 Evidence obtainable during trial 

 Allocation of legal expenses 

Extent of 

shareholder 

governance index (0-

10) 

Simple average of the 

extent of shareholder 

rights, the extent of 

ownership and control 

and the extent of 

corporate 

transparency indices 

Extent of shareholder rights index (0–10) 

 Shareholders’ rights and role in major corporate 

decisions 

Extent of ownership and control index (0–10) 

 Governance safeguards protecting shareholders from 

undue board control and entrenchment 

Extent of corporate transparency index (0–10) 

 Corporate transparency on significant owners, 

executive compensation, annual meetings and audits 

Strength of minority investors index (0-10) 

Simple average of the extent of conflict of interest regulation and the extent of 

shareholder governance indices 

Source: http://www.doingbusiness.org/Methodology/Protecting-Minority-Investors 

http://www.doingbusiness.org/Methodology/Protecting-Minority-Investors
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The Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2 scores in various minority investor protection indices show 

that the MENA region lags behind other regions in the area of Protecting Minority 

Investors. But it should also be noted that the scores vary widely across economies in the 

region. GCC countries, except Qatar, perform better than other regional averages in this 

area. For example, the United Arab Emirates receives a score of 7.7 out of 10 points in 

terms of the conflict of interest regulation index, which is significantly higher than the 

regional average and higher than the average of OECD high-income economies. 

Similarly, in 2018 Saudi Arabia receives a score of 8.0 out of 10 points for the conflict of 

shareholder governance index. It is reported by the World Bank (2017c) that Saudi 

Arabia strengthened minority investor protections by increasing shareholder rights, 

clarifying ownership and control structures and requiring greater corporate transparency 

on transactions with interested parties (Box 4.3). The reforms in Protecting Minority 

Investors brought Saudi Arabia to rank 10 globally. 

 

Figure 4.1. Doing Business Conflict of Interest Regulation Index (0-10), 2018 

 

Source: World Bank, Doing Business 2018 
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Figure 4.2. Doing Business Shareholder Governance Index (0-10), 2018 

 

Source: World Bank, Doing Business 2018 

In addition, the World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Report provides 

information on quality of accounting and auditing standards (Table 4.1).  According to 

the 2017-2018 ‘Strength of Auditing and Accounting Standards Index’ of Global 

Competitiveness report, the UAE and Qatar ranked globally as 21
st
 and 22

nd 
respectively 

and are leading in the MENA region with a score of 5.7. Bahrain, Oman and Saudi Arabia 

follow with scores of 5.4, 5.2, and 5.1 respectively, while Mauritania, the lowest ranking 

country from the MENA region, ranks last among 137 countries. 

 

 

 

7.3 

6.6 

6.4 

6.3 

6 

5.3 

5.3 

4.8 

4.7 

4.7 

4.7 

4.7 

4.7 

4.3 

4.3 

4.1 

4 

3.3 

3.3 

3.3 

2 

2 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Saudi Arabia

East Asia and the Pacific (EAP)

Europe and Central Asia (ECA)

Djibouti

Kuwait

Latin America and Caribbean (LAC)

Morocco

OECD High Income

MENA Regional Average

Palestinian Aut

Bahrain

Oman

Tunisia

Lebanon

Egypt

South Asia (SA)

Iraq

Yemen

Algeria

Jordan

Libya

Qatar

Shareholder Governance Index



      │ 24 
 

Box 4.3. Recent improvements in the Saudi Arabia Corporate Governance Framework 

(Disclosure and transparency) 

In Saudi Arabia, the primary sources of corporate governance legislation are Capital 

Market Law, Companies Law, Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuous 

Obligations, and Corporate Governance Regulations issued by the Saudi Arabia Capital 

Markets Authority (CMA). The Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority has also adopted 

specific corporate regulations for banks and the insurance sector. 

The Saudi authorities pushed for better corporate governance especially after the 

establishment of the CMA in 2003. Listing Rules and Corporate Governance Regulations 

were introduced in 2004 and 2006 respectively and both were amended several times in 

accordance with market developments. 

In recent years, further measures in the corporate governance area have been adopted in 

Saudi Arabia in line with Saudi Vision 2030 which is a comprehensive plan of reform 

aiming to diversify the Saudi economy.  

These measures strengthened minority investor protection by increasing shareholder 

rights, clarifying ownership and control structures, requiring greater corporate 

transparency and regulating disclosure of transactions with related parties. As a result, the 

rankings of Saudi Arabia rose to 10 globally in protecting the minority shareholders index 

of WB Doing Business 2018. A summary account of reforms is provided below. 

Recent corporate governance developments in disclosure and transparency in Saudi 

Arabia 

Year Measure Effects on Disclosure Regulations 

2016  CMA Regulatory 

Rules and Procedures 

published pursuant to 

the Companies Law 

(2015) relating to 

Listed Joint Stock 

Companies 

 Update on Listing 

Rules and Issuance 

of the Listing Rules 

for the Parallel 

Market 

The updated CMA Regulatory Rules and 

Procedures requires annual disclosure of   

- Remuneration policies, and mechanisms for 

determining such remuneration 

- Cash and in-kind benefits to each Board 

member in exchange for any executive, 

technical, managerial, or advisory work or 

positions. 

The CMA has also issued a guidance for these 

regulatory rules and procedures, which is meant to 

assist related parties in implementation.  

 

The listing rules updated in May 2016 include 

material developments with regard to continuous 

disclosure requirements of listed companies on:  

  

- Related party transactions or arrangements equal 

to or greater than 1% of the gross revenues of 

the issuer  

- Changes in the composition of the directors or 

CEO of the issuer.  

- The entering into or the unexpected termination 
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of any material contract.  

2017 Updated Corporate 

Governance Regulations 

The Corporate Governance Regulations updated in 

February 2017 are more comprehensive than the 

previous one.  

- 85% of the provisions of this code are binding. 

- 41 mandatory principles are related to disclosure 

in the annual report.  

- Some of the key provisions on disclosure 

include the following:  

1. Policies and Procedure related to disclosure 

should be determined by the company. 

2. The report of the audit committee shall 

include its opinion on the adequacy of the 

internal and financial control systems and 

risk management systems in the Company.  

3. The Board shall make available sufficient 

copies of the audit committees' report at 

the Company's head office, and publish 

them on the Company's and the Exchange's 

websites. Summary of the report shall be 

read at the General Assembly.  

Source: CMA Representative, “Transparency and Disclosure in the Saudi Capital 

Market”, 2017 Meeting of the MENA-OECD Working Group on Corporate Governance. 

 

Table 4.1. Global competitiveness, strength of auditing and accounting  

standards (1-7), 2017-2018 

Country Score 

UAE 5.7 

Qatar 5.7 

Bahrain 5.4 

Oman 5.2 

Saudi Arabia 5.1 

Morocco 4.8 

Jordan 4.8 

Lebanon 4.4 

Kuwait 4.4 
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Country Score 

Egypt 4.4 

Tunisia 4.3 

Algeria 3.4 

Yemen 2.6 

Mauritania 2.1 

Source: World Economic Forum, The Global Competitiveness Report 2017 

Country reports on corporate governance indices of the World Bank Doing Business 

Report also gives valuable information on a country’s transparency regulation, especially 

on related ownership stakes, board members, remuneration of board members and 

auditing reports (Table 4.2).   

Table 4.2. World Bank Doing Business 2018-Protecting Minority Rights 

  Not implemented Implemented   

Extent of corporate transparency index 

Buyer must disclose 

ultimate beneficial 

ownership stakes (i.e. 

direct and/or indirect) 

representing 5%  

Algeria, Djibouti, Iraq, 

Libya, Mauritania, 

Oman, Palestinian 

Authority, Qatar, Yemen  

Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan, 

Kuwait, Lebanon, Morocco, 

Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, United 

Arab Emirates 

Information on other 

activities and 

directorships held by 

board members must 

be disclosed 

Algeria, Bahrain, 

Djibouti, Iraq, Lebanon, 

Libya, Mauritania, 

Morocco, Oman, 

Palestinian Authority, 

Qatar, Tunisia, Yemen 

Egypt, Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi 

Arabia, United Arab Emirates 

The compensation of 

individual directors 

and high-ranking 

officers must be 

disclosed  

Algeria, Bahrain, 

Djibouti, Egypt, Iraq, 

Lebanon, Libya, 

Mauritania, Morocco, 

Palestinian Authority, 

Tunisia, Yemen  

Jordan, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, 

Saudi Arabia, United Arab 

Emirates 

Annual financial 

statements of listed 

companies must be 

audited by an external 

auditor 

Djibouti Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, 

Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, 

Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, 

Oman, Palestinian Authority, 

Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, 

United Arab Emirates, Yemen 

Audit reports of listed 

companies must be 

Algeria, Djibouti, Iraq, 

Libya, Mauritania, 

Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan, 

Kuwait, Lebanon, Morocco, 
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disclosed to the public Yemen Oman, Palestinian Authority, 

Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, 

United Arab Emirates 

Source: Adapted from 2018 WB Doing Business Report Country Reports 

A number of issues emerge from the review of Table 4.2 with regard to MENA corporate 

transparency regulations:   

4.2.3. Disclosure of beneficial ownership  

As noted by the G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, one of the basic rights 

of investors is to have transparent information on the ownership structure of companies. 

This information is especially important for investment decisions in economies such as 

those in the MENA region that are characterised by concentrated ownership. Today 

although most jurisdictions have passed legislation obliging companies to disclose 

substantial ownership of shares, the “true” ownership of a company can remain opaque 

(OECD, 2016). In the MENA region, only half of the economies require disclosure of 

beneficial ownership stakes (representing 5% or more of capital). 

4.2.4. Information on board members 

The G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance indicate that investors require 

information on board members’ membership in other boards. Disclosure of all roles of 

board members is key for determining the effectiveness of and improvements at the board 

level.  

In a minority of MENA economies (5 out of 16), it is mandatory to disclose information 

on other activities and directorships held by board members (Table 4.2). Moreover, the 

disclosure of such information would be crucial to provide insights on potential conflicts 

of interests and on whether board members devote adequate time to their activities. This 

is especially the case in MENA economies, where concentrated ownership is commonly 

seen. Indeed, family members and government representatives often hold seats on MENA 

company boards (Othman and Zenghal, 2010). Furthermore, the existence of cases where 

one member holds seats on the boards of multiple companies increases the importance of 

disclosure in this respect. 

4.2.5. Remuneration of board members 

The G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance state that information about board 

members and key executives’ remuneration is also of concern to shareholders in order to 

evaluate how remuneration and long term company performance are linked. The 2017 

edition of the OECD Corporate Governance Factbook reports that 89% of economies 

covered (47 economies) have introduced general criteria on remuneration, mainly through 

the “comply or explain” system. 

Disclosure on an individual basis (including termination and retirement provisions) is 

increasingly regarded as good practice, but still remains a sensitive issue in some 

countries (OECD, 2017b). Although individual remuneration disclosure is now required 

or recommended in most of the OECD member states (OECD 2017b), emerging markets 

prefer aggregate reporting on remuneration (IOSCO, 2016). There are also alternative 

approaches taken by several emerging markets. As an example, companies in Argentina 

must submit individual remuneration information to the capital market authority only, 
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whereas companies in Brazil must disclose the minimum, maximum and the average 

individual remuneration for the last 3 years. In Korea, the exact amount and detailed 

components of individual remuneration above a certain threshold should be disclosed 

(IOSCO, 2016).  

Similar to other emerging markets, disclosure of individual remuneration is not required 

in most MENA economies. The individual compensation of directors and high-ranking 

officers must be disclosed only in six MENA economies namely Jordan, Kuwait, Oman, 

Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the UAE (WB Doing Business, 2017). A specific format for 

disclosure of board members and executives’ remuneration is now required by the Saudi 

Arabia Corporate Governance Regulations, adopted in February 2017.
5
  

4.2.6. Auditing report 

Investors need high quality comparable and consistent financial information to make 

informed investment decisions. Capital markets could not function properly without the 

accurate and timely disclosure of financial statements.  Therefore, auditing of financial 

statements by independent auditors in line with international standards and disclosure of 

auditing reports are of vital importance for capital market development.   

The 2017 WB Doing Business Country reports suggest that in almost all MENA 

economies (except Djibouti) financial statements of listed companies are audited. 

However, the fact that it is not mandatory to disclose auditing reports in six MENA 

economies (Algeria, Djibouti, Iraq, Libya, Mauritania, and Yemen) is surprising. The 

audit report is the main tool for auditors to communicate with shareholders and its 

disclosure is crucial to achieve the intended benefits of auditing. Global good practice, in 

line with IOSCO Principles for Periodic Disclosure by Listed Entities, indicates that 

company annual reports contain an audit report for the period.  

4.2.7. Related party transactions (RPTs)  

Another important subject of disclosure regulations is related party transactions, 

especially where concentrated ownership and business groups exist. As recommended by 

the G20/OECD Principles “it is essential to fully disclose all material related party 

transactions and the terms of such transactions to the market individually.” 

Regulation of related party transactions varies around the world. However, disclosure of 

related party transactions is a legal requirement in almost all economies (OECD, 2017b).  

A detailed survey of related party transactions among MENA economies, conducted in 

2014 by the Union of Arab Securities Authorities and the OECD, reports that ex-post 

disclosure of RPTs is required in MENA economies in line with global practice. 

However, immediate reporting was less common in MENA markets at the time of survey 

(OECD and UASA, 2014).  

After 2014, several MENA economies changed their Company Laws, Securities Laws 

and Corporate Governance Codes, which are the source of regulations on related party 

transactions. The 2017 OECD survey on Corporate Governance Frameworks in the 

Middle East and North Africa also highlights that disclosure requirements of related party 

transactions in the region have been strengthened since 2014.  

Table 4.3 indicates that GCC countries, which have relatively more developed capital 

markets, have more enhanced disclosure regulations. However, according to the World 

Bank report, there are some good corporate governance practices that have not been the 
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subject of regulation in most MENA economies yet. Beyond regulation, actual practice 

by companies is also of importance.  

4.2.8. Disclosure practices of the largest listed companies in the MENA region 

This section analyses the current disclosure practices of the top 20 MENA listed 

companies. A complete list of listed companies included in the study is provided in 

Annex A. Ten of the largest twenty companies are traded on Tadawul (Saudi Stock 

Exchange), the biggest market in the region. The remaining largest companies are traded 

on the UAE, Qatar, Kuwait and Morocco markets.   

The aim of the analysis is to evaluate the disclosure level of the top listed companies from 

the perspective of international investors. The G20/OECD Principles were used as the 

main benchmark for the analysis. Annual reports for the year 2016 in English are 

evaluated for this purpose since information provided in annual reports is a good sign of 

the importance attached to corporate governance by a company. In cases where a 

necessary disclosure was not made in the annual report, a check was made to ascertain if 

related information was announced via the company website.  

It should also be noted that the result of the analysis presents the existence or not of the 

disclosure item, it does not focus on the quality of the disclosure in detail. In addition, the 

analysis does not address disclosure regulation. Company practices based on voluntary 

and mandatory disclosures have been examined and hence dissimilarities reflect not only 

differences in disclosure regulation but also in company practices. 
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Table 4.3. Information disclosed by the largest 15 companies in the MENA region  

Disclosure items by category 

Number of companies 

disclosing per item 
(Maximum 15) 

1. The financial and operating results   

1.a. The balance sheet 14 

1.b. Profit and loss statement 14 

1.c. Cash Flow statements 14 

1.d. Notes to Financial Statements 13 

1.d. A statement of changes in ownership 

equity 

14 

1.e. Consolidated accounts where the company 

controls other enterprises 

14 

1.f. Management discussion and analysis 14 

2.  Company objectives (commercial and 

non-commercial objectives) 

12 

3. Major share ownership and beneficial 

owners 

  

3.a. Major share ownership 8 

3.b. Beneficial Owners 4 

4. Remuneration of members of the board 

and key executives 

  

4.1. Actual remuneration 13 

4.2. Details of remuneration 9 

5. Information about Board members   

5.a. Qualifications of Board members 6 

5.b. Selection process of Board members 8 

5.c. Other Board membership and executive 

positions 

10 

5.d. Independence of Board members 11 

5.e. The beneficial holdings of each board 

member and key executive 

8 

6. Related party transactions   

6.a. Material related party transactions 12 

6.b. The terms of such transactions 7 

7. Foreseeable risk factors   

7.a. Foreseeable material risk factors 14 

7.b. The procedures that has been established 

to manage such risks 

13 

8. Issues regarding employees and other 

stakeholders 

  

8.a. Issues regarding employees 13 

8.b. Environmental, social, and governance 

(ESG) disclosure 

13 

9. Governance structures and policies   

9.a. Corporate governance statement 12 

9.b. Committee structures and functions 13 

9.c. Audit Committee 13 

9.d. Remuneration Committee 13 
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Among the companies in the sample, five did not publish annual reports in English for the 

year 2016 on their websites, which suggests that websites of major listed companies may 

not be regularly updated. General findings from the review of disclosures by 15 

companies that published their 2016 annual reports in English (Table 4.3) are summarized 

below:  

Financial and operational results  

‒ 93 % of companies disclosed their financial statements in their 2016 annual 

report.  

One company did not disclose notes to financial statements in its annual report. 

While 80 % of companies published their objectives, the scope and content of 

disclosed information varies. In most instances, objectives of the company are not 

explained clearly, and this information is mainly provided in the Chairman and 

CEO statements.  

Ownership  

‒ 53 % of companies disclosed major ownership.  

‒ However, beneficial ownership is not expressed clearly. In cases where the major 

shareholder of the company is a public entity, the beneficial ownership of state 

can be inferred. 

Remuneration of Board members and executives 

‒ 87 % of the companies disclosed the aggregate amount of remuneration to board 

members and a limited number of key executives (top 5 or 3). Only 1 company in 

the sample disclosed individual remuneration.   

‒ 60 % of companies disclosed details of remuneration (such as salaries & 

compensations, allowances, periodic and annual remunerations).  

Board Structure 

‒ The average board size is 9.3 members and women hold only 0.3 % of board seats 

of reviewed companies.  

‒ 40 % of companies provided information about Board member qualifications in 

their annual reports. In addition, 5 companies disclosed Board member 

qualifications on their website.  

‒ 53% of companies disclosed procedure for the election of Board members in their 

annual reports, but information is limited. Especially whether or not candidacy 

was open to a broad field of candidates is not disclosed. 

‒ 67% of companies provided other company directorships of board members.   

‒ 53% of companies disclosed independent board members. While it is usually 

mentioned that a board member is deemed as independent, the criteria employed 

by the company to evaluate independence is not provided.  



      │ 32 
 

Related party transactions 

‒ 80% of companies disclosed material related party transactions mainly as part of 

accounting standards.  

‒ 47% of companies provided information on the terms of these transactions. 

However, the conditions of the related party transactions are disclosed using 

generic terms such as “on an ‘arm’s length basis” “governed by limits set by the 

regulations”, or “at mutually agreed terms”. 

Risk factors 

‒ 93% of companies disclosed material risk factors. Financial institutions in 

particular, tend to provide more detailed information. Furthermore, it is reported 

that in Kuwait the internal audit procedures of financial institutions are subject to 

annual independent auditing and the corresponding auditors’ opinion is disclosed 

in annual reports.  

Issues regarding employees and other stakeholders 

‒ 87% of companies disclose information about employees. Disclosure mainly 

included human resource development and training.  

‒ 87% of companies disclosed corporate social responsibility activities. In the 

sample, six companies (40%) also published environmental, social, and 

governance (ESG) report in addition to their annual reports as of 2016. These 

reports are classified as “Sustainability Report” or “Corporate Social 

Responsibility Report”. In addition, eight companies created separate sections on 

their websites with respect to Corporate Social Responsibility. 

Governance Structure 

‒ 80% of companies disclosed a corporate governance statement that includes 

information about the code of corporate governance followed and how it has been 

implemented. 

‒ 87% of companies disclosed detailed information (such as committee structures 

and functions) on their governance structure and policies. An Audit Committee is 

established in all sample companies and a Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee is set up in all companies except one. Although 13% of companies did 

not disclose their governance structure in their annual reports, all companies 

provided this information on the website.  

‒ The separation of CEO and Chairman is prevalent in reviewed companies with 

one-tier boards. A single person combines roles of CEO and Chairman only in 

two companies, but rationale for this arrangement was not disclosed clearly. One 

company has a two tier board system. 

In light of the above information, results concerning country practices of sample 

companies and general trends are as follows: 

‒ The level of disclosure is highest for financial statements. This implies that the 

disclosure of this information is required by securities law/listing rules and by 

company law. The quality of financial information is based on the implementation 
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of high quality standards. While Saudi companies use national standards as of 

2016, other reviewed companies use IFRS.   

‒ Most detailed information is disclosed by Saudi Arabian and UAE companies, 

reflecting the detailed corporate governance regulations of these economies. On 

the other hand, among the companies in the sample, only one company from 

Morocco did not disclose any information other than financial information in its 

annual report. However, since the company is also listed in France, detailed 

information is available on the company website through the “registration 

document” drawn up under EU regulation. Since there was only one company 

from Morocco in the sample, a general observation cannot be made for disclosure 

practices in this country. However, a study on corporate governance practice 

mentions that companies listed in Morocco do not disclose non-financial 

information in their annual reports (Cigna and Meziou, 2017). 

‒ Reviewed companies have provided substantial amounts of non-financial 

information in their annual reports. In some cases, information on certain issues 

under the G20/OECD Corporate Governance Principles were not published in the 

annual report but in other reports (such as the corporate governance report) or in 

the investor relations section of the company website. 

Still, this review of transparency practices of the largest listed companies in the MENA 

region shows that there are areas that can be improved (Table 4.4). For example, 

beneficial ownership is subject to the lowest level of disclosure. Companies that did not 

disclose information on beneficial ownership, qualifications of board members and terms 

of related party transactions corresponds to more than 50% of the sample.  

Table 4.4. The least prevalent disclosed items by the 15 largest MENA companies 

10 least disclosed items 

Number of companies 

disclosed the item 
(Maximum 15) 

Beneficial owners 4 

Qualifications of Board members 6 

The terms of related party transactions 7 

Major share ownership 8 

Selection process of Board members 8 

The beneficial holdings of each board 

member and key executive 

8 

Details of remuneration 9 

Other Board membership and executive 

positions 

10 

 

It is also important to note the limitations of this analysis. First of all, the analysis was 

based on the disclosures from one year only. Secondly, the sample includes a limited 

number of companies and does not cover all economies in the region. In addition, there 

have been improvements in corporate governance disclosure regulations after 2016. For 

example, Saudi Arabia, which accounts for half of sample companies, updated its 

Corporate Governance Regulations in February 2017. Disclosure requirements and listing 

rules of Saudi Arabia were also amended in December 2017. The analysis is based on the 

largest listed companies in five economies of the MENA region and may not adequately 
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reflect the whole picture across the region. Without further analysis of disclosure 

practices of companies, only generalisations could be made. Further research is needed to 

provide additional insights into the MENA companies’ transparency and disclosure 

practices. The results, nonetheless, provide some indication on general trends in 

disclosure practices of the largest listed companies in the region. 

It should also be noted that there is quite extensive literature indicating that larger 

companies’ disclosure level is better than that of smaller companies since the former are 

more visible and subject to more intensive monitoring by different stakeholders, such as 

governments, investors and analysts. There are similar findings of empirical studies based 

on MENA country data (Othman and Zeghal, 2010; Hossain and Hammami, 2009;  

Juhmani, 2013). These results suggest that smaller companies are unlikely to disclose the 

items that large companies do not disclose. Therefore, the findings of the 20 largest 

companies’ review give some indication for needed improvement in transparency 

practices throughout the region.  

Lastly, the review of MENA transparency and disclosure practices suggests two main 

areas of focus. The first key issue is disclosure of ownership and the second is disclosure 

of related party transactions. These two topics are also deeply interconnected since 

disclosure of ownership enables market participants to have updated information on who 

may exert influence on the company and help to monitor related party transactions. 
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5.  DISCLOSURE OF OWNERSHIP 

Ownership structure of a company is one of the key issues that a shareholder or a 

potential investor should consider in order to make an informed investment.  In support of 

this argument, the G20/OECD Corporate Governance Principles listed major share 

ownership among the nine material issues that should be disclosed.  

Disclosure of ownership contributes to market efficiency. It affects market efficiency 

since inadequate, unclear or inaccessible information may affect the functioning of 

markets, which in turn affects access to markets and thus effective distribution of 

resources, as the Principles emphasise.  

Disclosure of ownership is also important for corporate governance as it enables 

shareholders and potential investors to evaluate agency costs. Thereby, control structure 

sends positive or negative signals to investors.  In markets that are characterised by small 

and widely dispersed shareholdings, agency problems may arise between self-interested 

management and shareholders. Disclosure of ownership is especially important when 

concentrated ownership is prevalent as in the MENA region. In concentrated ownership – 

or “blockholder” systems, majority shareholders can play activist or pacifist roles as 

owners of a company. For example, in the case of institutional investor “controlled” 

companies, shareholders generally referred to as “outside blockholders”, may play a 

relatively pacifist role and mitigate problems related to managerial opportunism. In this 

case, a three-way conflict between controlling shareholders, managers and minority 

shareholders is expected (OECD, 2017c). In other companies with “inside blockholders”, 

controlling shareholders may be more willing to adopt a longer-term outlook and can 

possibly monitor management. In this case, disclosure of information on a controlling 

shareholder may be regarded as a positive sign. In other cases, investors may get negative 

signals from an ownership structure with inside blockholders since they feel vulnerable 

due to a heightened risk of opportunistic behavior by the controlling shareholder. In any 

case, in order to make this type of evaluation, investors need ownership information. The 

accountability of the board may also be seriously endangered if ownership and control 

structures are not disclosed (Vermeulen, 2013). 

Moreover, disclosure may affect companies’ behavior especially in cases of concentrated 

ownership. Non-disclosure may lead to self-dealing (e.g. abusive related party 

transactions, insider trading, share dilutions), tax evasion and/or even money laundering, 

terrorism financing and other financial crimes. Conversely, disclosure may discipline 

blockholders and prevent them from engaging in abusive behavior (Siems and Schouten, 

2009).  

Shareholder identification is also beneficial to facilitate the exercise of shareholder rights. 

It is argued that transparency between companies and investors may encourage long-term 

shareholder engagement. However, shareholder identification has become difficult and 

costly for listed companies due to changes in the equity investment chain, in particular for 

the increased role of intermediaries and increased cross border shareholding (EU 

Commission, 2014). These developments lead to a new debate on possible shareholder 
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identification mechanisms. The mechanisms for identification of shareholders widen the 

current scope of disclosure requirements and may contribute to transparency.  

Finally, disclosure of ownership is also crucial for other stakeholders. Stakeholder rights 

(e.g. employees and creditors) cannot be properly exercised if the ownership structure of 

a company cannot be identified. Finally, regulators and supervisory agencies have a 

strong interest in knowing the owners of a company in order to enforce rules and to 

prevent financial crime (Vermeulen, 2013).  

5.1. Legislative and regulatory approaches 

The issues summarised above imply that capital structure is an essential element of 

information about a company and therefore it is generally subject to mandatory disclosure 

requirements. A study (Siems and Schouten, 2009) using a dataset from 25 countries over 

11 years (1995-2005) found that a number of regulators have expanded the obligation to 

disclose share ownership in listed companies. The study also demonstrates that ownership 

disclosure rules have become more stringent over time, and disclosure thresholds have 

been lowered.  

In most economies, ownership disclosure obligations of listed companies are regulated by 

securities laws and listing rules. Economies often require disclosure of beneficial 

ownership data starting from the IPO stage mainly through prospectuses. After the IPO, 

disclosure of beneficial owner information is required at least annually and as soon as the 

ownership threshold requiring disclosure has been exceeded.  

5.1.1. Who shall disclose? 

The disclosure requirements on beneficial ownership generally apply to three different 

groups (OECD, 2016): 

 

1. Major shareholders: Major shareholders are required to disclose their 

shareholdings when the size of holdings reaches, exceeds or moves below certain 

thresholds. There are different practices among countries in terms of the 

disclosure obligations, including thresholds, timing and shareholders that 

companies are required to report. Thresholds requiring disclosure are generally 

well below controlling ownership. Notification threshold for major shareholdings 

is usually fixed at 5%
6
. But in some countries minimum threshold is determined at 

2% (Portugal), 3% (Ireland, Italy
7
, Netherlands, Spain, UK

8
) or 10% (Bangladesh, 

Chinese Taipei, Pakistan) (OECD, 2016; ESMA, 2018). There are different 

regulations governing who should disclose changes in major shareholdings. In 

some countries the major shareholder is required to inform the issuer and the 

regulator, and the issuer must then disclose this information to the market. In 

other countries the major shareholder directly discloses major shareholding to the 

market.  

 

A declaration of intent by the acquirer of a large ownership interest also needs to 

be disclosed in some countries like the European Union Member States, Hong 

Kong, Mexico and the United States (FSB, 2017).  
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2. Listed companies: Listed companies are generally required to disclose their 

shareholder structure through their prospectus, annual report, company website, 

shareholder meeting circular or other materials such as listing applications. An 

IOSCO review (2015) finds that 33 out of 37 countries require listed companies to 

publish information about major shareholders. Thus, 30 of the respondents 

indicated that information shall be disclosed in the annual financial report. 

 

3. Management and board members: Disclosure of share ownership by management 

and board members is also required in many countries, regardless of their actual 

shareholding percentage (OECD, 2016).  

5.1.2. Definition of beneficial ownership  

The effect of disclosure and reporting requirements depends largely on the scope and 

definitions of beneficial ownership. A beneficial owner is usually defined as the natural 

person who is entitled to the benefits accruing from securities, and/or has power to 

exercise controlling influence over the voting rights attached to shares. However, this 

definition is too narrow to address state-owned enterprises or listed companies with 

widely dispersed shareholder structures (OECD, 2017).  

In recent years, international efforts have been accelerated to bring reforms in the area of 

transparency of beneficial ownership (Box 5.1).  The specific purpose of these efforts, 

notably in the context of the G8, G20, EU and in FATF, is generally to prevent the 

misuse of corporate vehicles for different illicit purposes such as tax avoidance, money 

laundering or financing of terrorism. Taking into account the importance beneficial 

ownership disclosure, all international efforts that enhance this aspect also strengthen 

good corporate governance. 

Although ownership disclosure rules in securities law have become more stringent and 

international efforts in the area has been accelerated over time, the “true”, “ultimate” or 

“de facto” beneficial owner of a company can be difficult to determine and remain 

opaque. Ultimate beneficial ownership information can be concealed through the use of 

several structures and models such as shell companies, complex ownership and control 

structures involving many layers of shares registered in the name of other legal persons, 

bearer shares, nominee shareholders and directors, trusts and other legal arrangements 

which enable a separation of legal ownership and beneficial ownership of assets (FATF, 

2014).  

If disclosure obligations are applied only to the legal beneficial owner, the identity of the 

ultimate beneficial owner may be masked and the lack of transparency may create an 

environment conducive to illicit purposes. Therefore, the risk of misuse of corporate 

vehicles may be reduced by subjecting both the legal and the ultimate beneficial owner to 

disclosure obligations.  

Applying the concept of ultimate beneficial ownership results in the extension of 

disclosure obligations to parties who have access to voting/control rights, including those 

who hold shares indirectly through controlled parties. In this case, securities held by a 

person’s spouse and/or children, owners who employ control-enhancing mechanisms (e.g. 

pyramid structures, cross-shareholdings, dual class shares and non-voting shares, 

derivative products of shares  and shareholder coalitions, agreements and other “acting in 

concert” arrangements) would be considered as securities held by the beneficial owner. 
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Furthermore, when another company holds the shares of a listed company, the disclosure 

of beneficial ownership should also be required up to the ultimate level (OECD, 2017).  

5.1.3. Deadlines for disclosure 

As the G20/OECD Corporate Governance Principles emphasise, good practice for 

ongoing disclosure provisions is to call for “immediate” disclosure of material 

developments, this often means “as soon as possible” or is usually defined as a prescribed 

maximum number of days. A thematic review of country practices on timeliness and 

frequency of disclosure to investors by IOSCO (2015) provides information on the 

implementation of this principle for disclosure on major holdings among IOSCO 

members. In this regard, the review of practices of 31 IOSCO members finds that the 

majority of respondents have a fixed deadline (ranging from 1 to 10 and from 15 to 30 

working/trading days after the triggering event). For 12 respondents, disclosure shall take 

place “immediately”, “promptly”, “as soon as possible” or “without delay”.  

A recent ESMA report (2018) also presents information linked to the rules for the filing 

and publication of major holdings notifications in the European Economic Area (EEA) 

countries. The EU Transparency Directive requires major shareholders to inform the 

issuer and the regulator of the acquisition or disposal of major holdings in listed 

companies, and the issuer must then disclose this information to the market. The deadline 

for notifying the issuer can range from within the same day to four trading days after the 

shareholder is informed of the triggering event. But most EEA countries (20) apply the 4-

days deadline for making the notification. The deadline for publication varies among 

EEA countries, ranging from the same date to three days after the notification is received.  

These reviews indicate that most countries have implemented the OECD principle on 

immediate disclosure through a prescribed maximum number of days.  
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Box 5.1. Recent international efforts on transparency 

Major international policymaking bodies, countries and international organizations 

around the world are working on reforms in the area of transparency of beneficial 

ownership. An overview of recent policy initiatives at the international level and in some 

G20 jurisdictions are as follows: 

2013  

 G8 Leaders adopted the G8 Action Plan Principles to Prevent the 

Misuse of Companies and Legal Arrangements, a set of principles on 

tackling anonymous company ownership. 

 

2014  The Financial Action Task Force (FATF) published its Guidance on 

Transparency and Beneficial Ownership 

 G20 Leaders adopted the High Level Principles on Beneficial 

Ownership Transparency  

 

2015  The United Kingdom passed the Register of People with Significant 

Control (PSC) Act.  

 Norway’s Parliament voted unanimously to create a public register of 

beneficial ownership. 

 The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative adopted 

the requirement that all 51 member countries will have to ensure that 

oil, gas and mining companies that bid for, operate, or invest in 

extractive projects in their countries disclose their real owners by 

2020. 

 

2016  In the US, the Incorporation Transparency and Law Enforcement 

Assistance Act which seeks to require the U.S. Treasury/States to 

collect, maintain, and update beneficial ownership information on 

legal entities for law enforcement purposes was reintroduced. 

 The governments of the UK, France, Germany, Spain, and Italy 

announced that they would allow data on company beneficial 

ownership registers and new registers of trusts to be exchanged 

between the five countries’ tax and law enforcement agencies. 

 101 countries of the 137 member countries in the OECD’s Forum on 

Transparency and Exchange of Information for Tax Purposes have 

now made commitments to automatic exchange of information, 

including beneficial ownership information. The latter is relevant to 

effective exchange of information for tax purposes.    

 

Source: Ownership Transparency (2018), http://ownershiptransparency.com/ 

 

 

http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/Guidance-transparency-beneficial-ownership.pdf
http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/Guidance-transparency-beneficial-ownership.pdf
http://www.g20australia.org/sites/default/files/g20_resources/library/g20_high-level_principles_beneficial_ownership_transparency.pdf
http://www.g20australia.org/sites/default/files/g20_resources/library/g20_high-level_principles_beneficial_ownership_transparency.pdf
https://eiti.org/beneficial-ownership
https://eiti.org/who-we-are
http://www.oecd.org/tax/transparency/about-the-global-forum/publications/terms-of-reference.pdf
http://www.oecd.org/tax/transparency/about-the-global-forum/publications/terms-of-reference.pdf
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5.1.4. Practices in MENA 

Disclosure of beneficial ownership stakes representing 5% or more of capital, which is 

the internationally common threshold, is mandatory only in half of MENA economies 

(Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Morocco, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, the UAE) 

(WB Doing Business Report, 2018). A number of MENA markets require reporting of 

ownership above 10%, such as Iraq and the Palestinian Authority. 

In all of MENA economies where disclosure obligation exists, the issue is regulated by 

securities law and regulations, including listing rules. In line with global practice, 

substantial shareholders, directors and listed companies are mandated to disclose 

beneficial ownership in many of the region’s economies. However, there are variances 

relative to the rules for disclosure on major holdings’ notifications.  

In general, substantial shareholders are first mandated to disclose the information. The 

only exceptional case among reviewed economies is Bahrain, where the disclosure of 

beneficial ownership is required from listed companies. (Table 5.1).   
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Table 5.1. Disclosure obligations of substantial shareholders 

Country 

Minimum 

reporting 

percentage  

Reporting 

Requirements on 

change   

Timing of 

the 

disclosure  

Provision 

Bahrain
1 5% of the 

issuer's issued 

and paid-up 

capital  

Any changes received 

by the issuer relating to: 
Acquisition of 5% or 

more of the issuer's 

issued and paid-up 

capital by a beneficial 

owner, reaching 5% 

or more. 

Ownership of a 

beneficial owner 

reaches 10% or more. 

If a beneficial owner's 

ownership reaches 

10% or more of the 

issuer's issued and 

paid-up capital and 

who intends  to 

purchase or own 20% 

of the issuer's shares. 

Details of the above 

information shall be 

provided.  

In addition, 

acquisition or 

disposal of 10% or 

more of the paid-up 

capital of any listed 

issue on the Bahrain 

Stock Exchange 

should be approved 

by the Bahrain 

Central Bank, prior to 

the execution of such 

order on the 

Exchange. 

Immediate 

disclosure 

Bahrain CBB 

Disclosure 

Standards 
(article 32, 40, 

41, 42) 

Egypt
2 5% of capital Transactions that lead 

to changes in 

ownership exceeding 

5% (or multiples of 

5%) of capital  

- Both Capital 

Market Law and 

listing rules of 

the Egyptian 

Stock Exchange 
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Jordan 5 % or more of 

any securities 

of the same 

issuing 

Company. 

Any 1 % increase in 

ownership by 

shareholders whose 

holdings exceed 5 %. 
Intention for any 

purchase above the 

10% rate. 

Within one 

week 
 

Kuwait 5% of the 

capital of the 

listed company 

Any changes in 

ownership exceeding 

0.5% of the issuer’s 

capital by 

shareholders whose 

holdings exceed 5% 
Such reporting remains 

mandatory when the 

change results in a 

decline of the interest 

to below 5% of the 

capital. 

Within a 

period not 

exceeding 

five 

business 

days from 

acquisition 

of %5 of 

the capital 
For 

changes: 

Within a 

period not 

exceeding 

ten 

business 

days as of 

the date of 

the 

change. 

Kuwait Capital 

Market Law 
Article 

100,101,102 

The executive by 

Laws 

(Disclosure and 

Transparency) 

Lebanon % 5 of shares All purchase operations 

that result in reaching 

or exceeding 5% limit 

Within 24 

hours from 

the 

execution 

of the 

transaction  

Capital Market 

Law  
Article 45 

Morocco 5 % of capital 

or voting rights 

Exceeding or falling 

below 5%, 10%, 20%, 

33.33%, 50% or 

66.66% of capital or 

5%, 10%, 33.33%, 50% 

or 66.66% of voting 

rights  

Within 

five days 

from the 

date of 

change  

«Dahir» (Royal 

Decree) 

establishing 

Law No. 1-93-

211 Articles 

68(b) and 

68(c)  
CDVM Capital 

Market Code 

Article III.2.18 

Appendix 

III.2.L. 
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Saudi 

Arabia 

5 % of shares 

or  
convertible 

debt 

instruments 

Any change to the list 

of substantial 

shareholders  

Third 

trading 

day 

following 

the 

occurrence 

of the 

relevant 

event. 

Capital Market 

Authority 

Rules on the 

Offer of 

Securities and 

Continuing 

Obligations  

Article 68,70 
Tadawul Listing 

Rules Article 

33 

Tunisia
3 5% of capital 

of a listed 

company 

When participation in 

the capital of a listed 

company reaches or 

exceeds the thresholds 

of 5%, 10%, 20%, 

33.33% or 66.66%  

- - 

UAE 5% of the 

shares of a 

company 

listed on the 

Market.  
10% of the 

shares of a 

Parent 

Company, 

Subsidiary 

Company, 

Sister 

Company or 

Affiliate 

Company of 

a company 

listed on the 

Market. 

1% change above the 

disclosure 

requirements. 

Immediate 

disclosure 

Securities and 

Commodities 

Authority 
Board of 

Directors 

Decision  No. 

(3) of 2000 

Concerning 

The Regulations 

as to Disclosure 

and 

Transparency  

Article 3, Article 

33, Article 36 

Note: 1) In Bahrain, listed companies are required to disclose any notice of substantial shareholdings or      

changes received by them.  

2) Cigna, Djuric and Sigheartau (2017) 

3) Tunisia stock exchange http://www.bvmt.com.tn/en-gb/content/investors-protection 

Source: The web pages of capital markets authority except where otherwise indicated. 

Another issue is related to the reference adopted with respect to disclosure requirements, 

in particular, whether they refer to the entire shares of a listed company, to only the 

voting rights or to both. Most of the economies reviewed adopt the former approach, 

while only in Morocco, the disclosing threshold refers to capital or voting rights. In 

addition, regulations in some economies take into account voting rights indirectly. For 
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example in Kuwait, substantial shareholders are required to disclose their beneficial 

ownership when they have 5% or more of the capital. This interest may be held directly, 

indirectly, as a Group or when acting in concert with others. While calculating indirect 

interests, voting rights are taken into account. Therefore, it can be concluded that the 

disclosing threshold refers to both capital and voting rights in Kuwait.      

In MENA economies, de facto beneficial owners in addition to de jure beneficial owners 

are often regulated for disclosure requirements. In cases where the disclosure of de facto 

ownership is mandatory, the content of such ownership is a crucial issue (OECD, 2017). 

With regard to the definition of de facto ownership, regulations in Saudi Arabia and 

Kuwait are among the most detailed among MENA economies.  For instance, in 

calculating the total number of shares or convertible debt instruments held by a single 

person, Saudi Arabian regulations include securities held directly by the person as well as 

those held by a relative of, or a company controlled by the person in question or by any 

other persons that have agreed to act in concert with the same person. In the UAE, 

holdings of a person are taken into account with the holdings of their minor children with 

respect to disclosure requirements. In some economies all direct and indirect interests in a 

listed company are taken into account instead of listing the conditions for de facto 

ownership (e.g. Lebanon). In this case, the difference between de jure and de facto 

ownership is no longer important since it does not affect disclosure requirements.  

Requirements relating to the timing of disclosure information by shareholders also vary 

among MENA economies. In the case of significant acquisitions in a listed company, the 

UAE and Bahrain require immediate disclosure. In other economies the mandated period 

for disclosure varies between 24 hours and 10 days.   

Additionally, directors and senior officers are required to disclose beneficial ownership 

information in many MENA economies (Table 7). However, different disclosure regimes 

are applied across the region. For example, directors are required to disclose their 

interests, regardless of their actual shareholding percentage in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and 

the UAE. When it comes to disclosure obligations of directors, Bahrain has unique 

features. In Bahrain the issuer is required to adopt rules governing dealings by directors, 

senior management and associated persons in the listed securities of the issuer. These 

governing rules can be no less exacting than those issued by the Bahrain Authority, which 

requires disclosure when participation in the capital of a listed company reaches or 

exceeds the threshold of 5%. 

In some cases, directors must disclose their trading to the securities regulator, although 

they do not have to make a public disclosure. For instance, in Lebanon, directors have to 

disclose their trading to the Capital Markets Authority, but there is no mandatory 

disclosure. However, it is expected  that all persons including directors must make 

disclosures under general rules regarding public disclosures.   
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Table 5.2. Materiality threshold in disclosure of related party transactions 

Country 
Minimum 

Reporting 

Percentage 

Report requirements 

on change 
Timing of 

disclosure 
Provision 

Bahrain The issuer must 

adopt rules 

governing 

dealings by 

directors, senior 

management 

and associated 

persons in listed 

securities of the 

issuer, in terms 

no less exacting 

than those 

issued for 

shareholders 

who have %5 or 

more of the 

capital by the 

Bahrain Central 

Bank. 

- - Bahrain CBB 

Disclosure 

Standards 
Article 40 

Egypt1 3% of the 

capital of issuer 
Exceeding 3% or its 

multiples 

  Both Capital 

Market Law 

and listing 

rules of the 

Egyptian 

Stock 

Exchange 

Kuwait No minimum 

(In addition to 

any changes in 

securities 

owned by 

directors,  
intention to buy 

securities 

should be 

disclosed) 

‒ Any purchase or 

sale transactions 

in securities of 

the company 
‒ Intention to buy 

securities 

Immediate 

disclosure 

Kuwait Capital 

Market Law 
Article 

100,101,102 

The executive 

by Laws 

(Disclosure 

and 

Transparency) 

Lebanon No minimum 

(Notification to 

Capital Markets 

Authority) 

All transactions that  

have been made, directly 

or indirectly, 
in a traded security of the 

Within 10 

days from 

the date of 

transaction 

Market 

Conduct 

Regulation 

Article 4106 
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issuer or in  other 

securities related to the 

traded security 

Saudi 

Arabia 
No minimum  ‒ Becoming the 

owner of, or 

showing interest 

in, any rights in 

the shares of the 

issuer. 
‒ Increases or 

decreases by 

50% or more in 

the shares that a 

director, or 

member of the 

audit committee, 

or a senior 

executive of the 

issuer owns in 

that issuer, or by 

1% or more of 

the shares of that 

issuer, 

whichever is 

less. 

  CMA Rules on 

the offer of 

Securities and 

Continuing 

Obligations 

Article 53 

UAE No minimum All trades carried out by 

members of the 

company's board of 

directors and its 

executive management 

Immediate 

disclosure 
Securities and 

Commodities 

Authority 
Board of 

Directors 

Decision  No. 

(3) of 2000 

Concerning 

The 

Regulations as 

to Disclosure 

and 

Transparency  

Article 33 

Article 36 

Note: 1) Cigna, Djuric and Sigheartau (2017) 

Source:The web pages of capital markets authority except where otherwise indicated. 

Lastly, listed companies in the region are often required to disclose information about the 

names of their major shareholders in prospectuses, listing documents, annual and other 
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periodic reports. In some economies, such as Kuwait, listed companies are also mandated 

to disclose, at the beginning of each year, the names of their shareholders whose shares 

represent 5% or more in their capital, as well as any change occurring to this percentage. 

In addition to regulations, practices adopted by companies are a good indicator of 

disclosure in the region. According to the Hawkamah reports, the largest MENA 

companies are improving transparency in ownership. Out of the 150 largest and most 

liquid companies, 88% disclosed their largest shareholder in 2017 compared to less than 

40% in 2007. However, there are some analyses that highlight the existence of challenges 

with respect to the identification of ultimate beneficial owners in the region (Cigna, 

Djuric and Sigheartau, 2017; Govern, 2016; Santos, 2015).  

Furthermore, Transparency International (2015) reports that the Saudi Arabian 

framework on beneficial ownership is of average strength when compared to the G20 

High-Level Principles on Beneficial Ownership Transparency (Box 5.2). 
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Box 5.2. Ultimate beneficial ownership disclosure in Saudi Arabia 

An analysis by Transparency International (2015) identifies areas of strength and 

weakness in the beneficial ownership transparency framework of each G20 member 

country against the G20 High-Level Principles on Beneficial Ownership Transparency as 

of 2015. Findings of the report also provide insight on the Saudi Arabian beneficial 

ownership transparency framework. According to the report: 

‒ The beneficial ownership definition adopted by Saudi Arabia is fully compliant 

with the G20 principle, and thus includes reference to a natural person who 

exercises direct or indirect ultimate control.  

‒ Laws require financial institutions to identify and verify beneficial owners before 

establishing a business relationship in Saudi Arabia. Besides, independent 

verification by financial institutions is required in cases considered to be of high-

risk.   

‒ Saudi Arabia does not require companies to maintain beneficial ownership 

information, nor does it require nominee shareholders to indicate if they own 

shares on behalf of another person.  

‒ Saudi Arabia permits the use and transfer of bearer shares. 

‒ Supervisory authorities are granted access to information in the fulfilment of their 

supervisory duties in Saudi Arabia. The Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority and 

the Capital Market Authority are explicitly authorised to access all information 

required to perform their supervisory functions.  

‒ According to the report, the Saudi Arabian framework on beneficial ownership is 

of average strength when compared to the G20 Principles. It should also be 

reported that the majority of G20 countries (9) fall into the average framework 

category. 

Source: Transparency International (2015) 
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6.  DISCLOSURE OF RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

6.1. Legislative and regulatory approaches 

Generally, related party transactions may take a variety of forms including transactions 

involving the sale or purchase of goods, property or assets, provision or receipt of 

services or leases, transfer of intangible items, provision, receipt or guarantee of financial 

services, assumption of financial or operating obligations, purchase of equity or debt or 

establishment of joint ventures (OECD, 2014).  Executive compensation can also be 

accepted as related party transactions, since the executives are often in a position to 

exercise control. However, remuneration of management is excluded in the following 

discussion. Rather, this section focuses on transactions involving the movement of 

resources between the company and its major shareholders or other related parties, either 

directly or indirectly. 

Due to its importance for protection of minority investors, related party transactions are 

regulated around the world through different measures. These measures take the 

following forms: 

‒ Procedural rules (board approval, shareholder approval or opinion from 

independent experts), 

‒ Disclosure (periodic disclosure, immediate disclosure, disclosure of policy on 

related party transactions), 

‒ Prohibition of certain related party transactions. 

In some economies, specific roles are assigned to the board of directors or independent 

directors in cases of related party transactions. In addition, an independent advisor’s view 

and shareholders’ approval are required for certain types of transactions. Only a minority 

of economies forbid specific types of related party transactions. However, disclosure of 

related party transactions is an essential part of any regulation in almost all economies 

(OECD, 2017b).  

The G20/OECD Principles recommend that “disclosure should include, but not be limited 

to, material information on related party transactions”. The OECD Methodology for the 

implementation of the G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance specifies some 

“essential criteria” that seek to make the principle’s outcome more specific. The essential 

criteria associated with the disclosure of related party transactions in the OECD 

Methodology involve the following: 

‒ Disclosure should be required at least annually in respect of routine and/or less 

significant transactions. 

‒ In the case of transactions which are subject to shareholder approval, sufficient 

time should be provided after disclosure to minority shareholders enabling them 

to make an informed decision.  
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‒ In the case of other related party transactions that have a material impact on the 

price or value of the company but do not require shareholder approval, disclosure, 

in sufficient detail to enable minority shareholders to express concerns before the 

transaction is implemented, should be required. 

These issues are already addressed by regulations around the world. Periodic disclosure 

of related party transactions is a part of accounting and auditing standards. For example, 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) 24 requires disclosures about transactions and 

outstanding balances with an entity’s related parties. International Standards on Auditing 

(ISA) 550 deals with the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to related party 

relationships and transactions in an audit of financial statements.   

In addition to periodic information, immediate disclosure of certain related party 

transactions is also a common global practice. As of 2017, OECD reports that about half 

of the 47 jurisdictions require such disclosure in cases involving certain related party 

transactions (OECD, 2017b). In the case of immediate disclosure, some jurisdictions 

distinguish related party transactions according to their materiality and conditions. A 

recent FSB peer review (2017) on the implementation of G20/OECD principles of 

Corporate Governance for publicly listed, regulated financial institutions also provides 

information on materiality criteria in related party transaction regulations. The FSB 

review reports that some jurisdictions (such as Canada, France, Netherlands, Spain and 

the United States of America) do not determine quantitative criteria to define whether a 

related party transaction is material and requires disclosure of all related party 

transactions which may have impact on the price or value of the company’s shares. 

Alternatively, other jurisdictions (such as Argentina, Italy, Mexico and Singapore) define 

a materiality threshold in relation to gross assets, profits, market capitalisation or gross 

capital. Some examples of materiality threshold are given in Table 8.   

An IOSCO Thematic Review (2015) reports that timely disclosure of material related 

party transactions is required in most jurisdictions surveyed (26 out of 37).  A fixed 

deadline, ranging from 2 to 7 days following the occurrence of the event is applied in 14 

jurisdictions. In other jurisdictions, disclosure shall take place “promptly”, “as soon as 

possible”, “without delay” or “within the day”.  

 

Table 3: Materiality threshold in disclosure of related party transactions 

 Materiality Criteria for related party transactions 

Argentina Related Party Transactions as transactions of a “significant amount” (greater than 1% of 

the company’s shareholders’ equity) that publicly listed companies enter into with a 

“related party”  

Brazil
1
 Material related party transactions are defined as those exceeding (i) BRL 50000 or (ii) 1% 

of the issuers’ total assets. 
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 Materiality Criteria for related party transactions 

Italy Material transactions in which, at least one of the following, is greater than the 5% 

threshold:  

a) Consideration materiality ratio: the ratio between consideration of transaction and the 

market value of the company or net equity drawn from the latest published balance sheet 

by the company.   

b) Asset materiality ratio: the ratio between the total assets of the entity transferred in the 

transaction and the total assets of the company.  

c) Liabilities materiality ratio: The ratio between the total liabilities of the entity transferred 

in the transaction and the total assets of the company. 

United 

Kingdom 

For listed companies that maintain a premium listing, the UK Listing rules will require that 

all such transactions are subject to a shareholder vote if in excess of 5% of a company’s 

value defined in relation to gross assets, profits, market capitalization or gross capital 

(defined as market capitalization plus liabilities), and subject to disclosure to the market 

when below 5% (as defined) but above 0.25% (as defined).  

Mexico Transactions with other companies in which the firm or its shareholders hold 10% or more 

of voting shares should be disclosed. Also IFRS are used for the disclosure of RPTs. When 

firms engage in transactions with related parties that are material or may have an effect on 

the stock price, an announcement is made to the public. An event is considered as material 

if the act, fact or episode in question, represents at least 5% of the total amount of assets, 

liabilities or consolidated capital, or alternatively 3% of total consolidated sales of the 

previous accounting year. 

Singapore Transactions with any related person, of a value equal to, or more than, 3% of the group’s 

latest audited net tangible assets, and valued at least $100,000 are considered material and 

must be disclosed. Companies are also required to disclose all transactions (regardless of 

individual transaction value), if the cumulative transaction with the same interested person 

and its associates is above the 3% threshold. An issuer must also disclose the aggregate 

value of interested person transactions entered into during the financial year under review 

in its annual report. 

 
1)   OECD Corporate Governance Factbook 

Source: Adapted from FSB Thematic Review on Corporate Governance (2017) except where otherwise indicated. 

Another legal tool that policymakers commonly adopt is disclosure of policy on related 

party transactions. UNCTAD (2011) reports that disclosure of the decision making 

process for approving transactions with related parties is required in 92 % of 25 emerging 

markets from the MSCI Emerging Markets Index.  

6.1.1. Practices in MENA  

The concentrated ownership structure of MENA economies raises concerns about 

protection of minority rights and the probability of abusive related party transactions. A 

review of disclosure practices of the 150 largest listed companies in the MENA region 

found that the related party transactions of only 20% of companies covered by the 
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S&P/Hawkamah ESG Pan Arab Index were conducted on market terms (Hawkamah, 

2012). 

An OECD study in collaboration with the Union of Arab Securities Regulators (UASA) 

(2014) based on a survey among securities regulators in the MENA region, provides 

further information on regulatory treatments with regard to related party transactions in 

the region. The study reports that related party transactions are regulated through different 

measures and ex-post disclosure of related party transactions is generally required in 

MENA economies. According to the survey, only Libya did not have regulations 

specifying disclosures that shall be made with regard to related party transactions. 

However, it was found that immediate reporting of related party transactions was less 

common in MENA markets. Materiality requirements for disclosure obligations of related 

party transactions were not introduced in 12 out of 15 jurisdictions (the exceptions being 

Jordan, Iraq and the Palestinian Authority), and no materiality conditions for approval 

and disclosure were introduced by UASA member authorities as of 2014 (OECD and 

UASA, 2014).  

Based on survey findings, recommendations specific to disclosure of related party 

transactions provided by the OECD and UASA are summarised below: 

- In order to capture relevant transactions that present a risk of potential abuse, the legal 

definition of “related parties” should be made clearly and consistently in different bodies 

of law and regulations. Such definition should be substantially similar to international 

good practices summarised in IAS and OECD recommendations: 

‒ Material related party transactions should be disclosed in interim quarterly or in 

annual reports of companies, including the terms on which they were concluded 

as well as the approval processes they were subject to. In addition, ongoing 

reporting of RPTs to the regulator, shareholders and other relevant parties should 

be improved.  

‒ Regulators should urge companies to develop and make public a policy to 

monitor related party transactions. This policy should make clear which RPTs are 

prohibited and accepted, as well as the circumstances in which they can be 

considered as acceptable. 

‒ Existing electronic disclosure platforms developed by MENA stock exchanges 

and securities authorities could be a useful mechanism for facilitating continuous 

disclosure. 

After 2014, several MENA jurisdictions changed their Company Laws, Securities Laws 

and Corporate Governance Codes, which are the source of regulations on related party 

transactions. As a result of these regulatory reforms disclosure requirements on related 

party transactions in the region have been strengthened since 2014.  This development 

was also documented by the 2017 OECD survey on Corporate Governance Framework in 

the Middle East and North Africa.  

The World Bank reports also concur with OECD findings. The World Bank has reported 

improvements in regulations of several MENA economies on related party transactions in 

recent years through the Doing Business Report protecting minority investors indicators, 

which measure internal, immediate and periodic disclosure requirements for related-party 

transactions. According to WB Doing Business reports, United Arab Emirates, Saudi 

Arabia, Egypt and Djibouti strengthened minority investor protections by requiring 

greater disclosure of transactions with related parties since 2014. However, minority 
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investor protection was surprisingly weakened in Qatar by reducing requirements for 

approval of related-party transactions and their disclosure to the board of directors, and 

by limiting the liability of interested directors and board of directors in the event of 

prejudicial related-party transactions.   

A review of recent changes in the area shows that the definition of related party 

transactions is generally improved and greater requirements for disclosure of such 

transactions are introduced in MENA economies. 

For example, Saudi Arabia regulations distinguish related party transactions according to 

their materiality and conditions in order to make disclosure more informative.  Through 

an amendment to listing rules in 2016, quantitative disclosure threshold criteria were 

introduced in Saudi Arabia for the immediate disclosure of related party transactions. 

While a listed company was required to disclose any related party transactions regardless 

of the size before the amendment, the new listing rules limit the requirement for 

immediate disclosure to transactions with a value equal to or greater than 1% of the 

company’s gross revenue according to the latest audited financial statements. In addition 

to this, listed companies in Saudi Arabia must disclose a board of directors’ report, which 

includes the nature, terms and amount of each related party transaction annually 

regardless of the size. The boards of listed companies in Saudi Arabia are also required to 

develop an explicit and written policy to deal with actual and potential conflict of interest 

situations including related party transactions.  

In Egypt listed companies are also required to disclose any arrangement concluded with 

related parties to the market (Al Tamimi&CO, 2016). In addition, listing rules amended 

in 2016 have introduced a new rule requiring the board of directors’ report, of a listed 

company in Egypt, to include a list of all agreements concluded between the company 

and any of its founders or main shareholders, and the date of the prior approval by the 

ordinary general meeting for each contract (Law Today, 2016). The UAE has also 

adopted detailed transparency rules and specific procedural obligations through the new 

Company Law (2015) and Corporate Governance Rules (2016).  The new rules establish 

disclosure requirements for related party transactions regardless of the value of the 

transaction while  former rules had required disclosure only when the transaction value 

was equal to or greater than 10 % of the company’s total assets. All related party 

transactions must also be disclosed to the board of directors and securities regulator. The 

notice sent by the companies’ chairman to the securities regulator must include detailed 

information on related party transactions, together with a written confirmation that the 

terms of the transaction or the deal with the related party are fair, reasonable, and in 

favour of shareholders. Moreover, under the new rules, listed companies in the UAE 

should maintain a register for related parties in which the names of such parties shall be 

recorded together with their transaction details, and actions taken. Listed companies must 

also inform their shareholders of such transactions in the general assembly. In addition to 

transparency rules, where the value of the transaction is more than 5% of the company’s 

share capital, independent advisors’ review and shareholder approval is required. Finally, 

shareholders representing 5% or more of the shares of a company involved in a related-

party transaction may access documents relating to the transaction. 

The results of the legal review with regard to disclosure of related party transactions in 

the region may be summarised as follows:  

- The adoption of IFRS in most MENA economies (Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, 

Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, the UAE and Yemen) has been a major 

step forward.  
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- In addition to accounting rules, MENA economies are also using companies law (Egypt, 

Iraq, Lebanon, Morocco, Oman, Tunisia, UAE), capital market regulations including listing 

rules (Egypt, Iraq, Kuwait, Palestinian Authority, Saudi Arabia, UAE) and corporate 

governance regulations (Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, 

UAE, Yemen) to define “related parties” (OECD 2017).  

- The definition of a related party transaction adopted in the MENA region varies (Annex B). 

It clearly covers, in all reviewed country examples, key management personnel members of 

the reporting entity. Related parties generally comprise the parent company and/or any of its 

subsidiaries or associate companies. Furthermore, the definition of related parties commonly 

includes relatives of the controlling shareholder. However, in some economies (such as 

Egypt, Lebanon) relatives are not stated explicitly in the definition, whereas in other 

economies it covers relatives up to a certain degree of kinship (for example, first degree 

relatives in Oman, second degree relatives in Qatar). In determining relatedness, thresholds 

for control are adopted in some MENA economies (such as Qatar, Oman, UAE).  

- All MENA economies  require further periodical disclosure in addition to accounting 

standards requirements. Immediate disclosure (except Yemen) is now necessary in case of 

specific related party transactions (OECD 2017). However, requirements in MENA 

economies differ when it comes to how and when related party transactions should be 

disclosed. 
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7.  MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT OF STANDARDS 

7.1. Global trends in corporate governance monitoring and enforcement 

Effective monitoring and enforcement are crucial to ensure that sound corporate 

governance rules are applied by companies. Globally, compliance with corporate 

governance standards is subject to both public and private monitoring and enforcement. 

Public monitoring and enforcement refers to public functions, typically provided by 

securities regulators, involved with market surveillance and supervision of market 

participants, and the imposition of sanctions for breach of laws and dishonest behaviour 

(OECD, 2013). Private enforcement, which is differentiated as judicial and non-judicial, 

involves actions taken by private actors such as activist shareholders, institutional 

investors, and minority investor groups to ensure compliance (OECD, 2016).  

On the global scale, especially following the 2008-2009 financial crisis, corporate 

governance weaknesses were acknowledged, and attention was drawn to shortcomings in 

monitoring and enforcement activities in this area. This led to changes in practices in 

different countries (OECD, 2013).  

It is often argued that private enforcement by one or more shareholders through judicial 

process is less likely due to high litigation costs and uncertainty (IFC, 2016). An OECD 

study (2013) on corporate governance enforcement conducted across 27 countries also 

reports that private supervision and enforcement are seldom used and complaints to the 

regulator are considered the most effective enforcement mechanism.  

 Enforcement of corporate governance principles is also a challenging task for public 

authorities around the world for several reasons. Most importantly it is difficult to detect 

noncompliance with the principles from reviewing disclosures only. Besides, monitoring 

is time consuming and requires experienced staff. Lack of resources by the securities 

regulator and inadequate independence of the institution are other challenges faced by 

public authorities (OECD, 2013).  

Taking into account their limited time and human capacity, some regulators focus on core 

areas of disclosure or practices of systemically important sectors or companies for their 

monitoring activity. In addition, regulatory authorities use external resources, such as 

universities, associations and independent committees to collect information for 

monitoring purposes. Securities market authorities also initiate investigations based on 

the information provided by investors and whistle blowers.   

Some good examples of the aforementioned approaches can be observed in OECD 

countries. For example, regulators in specific countries take a risk based approach by 

identifying companies with high potential for abusive practices (such as Brazil, Poland 

and Turkey) (OECD, 2013). With regard to monitoring activity, the French Financial 

Market Authority (AMF) prepares a report each year on corporate governance, executive 

remuneration and internal control. The AMF report focuses on a limited number of 

chosen companies based on market capitalisation and information concerns only. The 
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best and worst practices of certain issuers are highlighted, and the companies in question 

are named in the report (AMF, 2016). In the Netherlands, the Dutch Corporate 

Governance Code Monitoring Committee, established by the government, monitors the 

listed companies’ compliance with The Dutch Corporate Governance Code and prepares 

an annual monitoring report. The study is generally carried out in cooperation with 

universities.  The Committee reports its findings at least once a year to the Minister of 

Economic Affairs, the Minister of Security and Justice and the Minister of Finance.  

For enforcement purposes, the accuracy of the disclosed information must be verified by 

the regulatory authority. In this sense, several regulatory approaches are adopted. Some 

authorities compare disclosed information with other reports or with information received 

from other sources. In doing so, authorities also cooperate with other public bodies and 

institutions such as tax authorities, central securities depositories, custodians and other 

financial intermediaries. Authorities also rely on their own resources to investigate the 

disclosed information and to ensure the correctness, reliability, timing and accurateness of 

information by imposing penalties for failure to comply with the disclosure rules and 

regulations (OECD, 2016 Asia). In addition, international co-operation and the sharing of 

both public and non-public information among regulators through different arrangements 

such as the IOSCO Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding is another crucial 

mechanism used to check the veracity of the disclosed information.   

Enforcement approaches and regimes also vary among countries. Public enforcement may 

be both formal (judicial/criminal penalties and fines, administrative penalties and fines, or 

remedial orders) and informal (such as information requests, notice letters or norm-

enhancing reprimands) (OECD, 2013). Disclosing the sanctions and measures is also 

common practice among regulatory authorities. 

In addition, other market participants and institutions such as stock exchanges, 

accountants and auditors, rating agencies and the media can also play a significant role in 

the enforcement of disclosure rules. In particular, stock exchanges can be effective in 

enforcing corporate governance standards as they often adopt disclosure requirements as 

part of their listing requirements and delisting is a real threat for any listed company in 

cases of noncompliance. While conducting their activities, accountants, auditors and 

rating agencies may discover weaknesses in corporate governance activities and may 

provide unofficial advice to companies. The media is also an essential element in raising 

general public awareness on the importance of good corporate governance.   

7.1.1. Practises in MENA economies 

In most MENA economies, the body responsible for the development of the corporate 

governance code also performs a monitoring role. Thus, the securities regulator and stock 

exchanges are the main supervisors of corporate governance codes in 12 out of 15 MENA 

economies. In Oman, the Muscat Stock Exchange has the responsibility for monitoring 

companies’ compliance with the code. In half of MENA economies (Lebanon, Morocco, 

Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, and the UAE DIFC) a monitoring 

report is published; however, in three of these economies it is only done occasionally. 

As MENA companies’ disclosure practices are often judged as inadequate by investors 

(OECD, 2014), and since private enforcement typically depends on publicly enforced 

disclosure (Jackson and Roe, 2009), effective monitoring and enforcement by securities 

regulators is essential to provide availability of complete and reliable information in the 

market.  Nevertheless, an OECD paper indicates that only 15% and 12% of companies in 

the UAE and Qatar respectively disclosed corporate governance reports (OECD, 2014a). 
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Another survey reports that among 200 publicly-listed companies in the GCC, 42.5% 

provided an annual report on their website or a copy upon request (GCC Board Directors 

Institute, 2011). Furthermore, another study shows that the average level of mandatory 

disclosure, with all applicable and relevant IFRSs mandatory disclosures, across GCC 

listed companies is 73% over the period 2010 to 2013 (Boshnak, H. (2017) Mandatory 

and voluntary disclosures in GCC listed firms, PhD, University of the West of England). 

All of these results indicate there is room to improve disclosure practices of MENA 

economies and active monitoring and enforcement by regulators will be essential in 

encouraging companies in this regard.  

Furthermore, the concentrated ownership structure increases the probability of weak 

disclosure practice and the low level of institutional investors in MENA stresses the 

importance of efficient monitoring by public authorities. A review of corporate 

governance enforcement in MENA (OECD, 2014b) highlights that although the 

enforcement capacity of MENA securities regulators has been growing, it can be further 

developed. The OECD also points out that private enforcement in the region is virtually 

non-existent mainly due to weak shareholder activism and the lack of a litigation culture 

in the region (OECD, 2014b).  

Since the OECD study in 2014, monitoring efforts by capital market authorities continue 

to improve in the region. For example, the Jordan Securities Commission announced that 

the number of companies that disclosed their 2016 semi-annual financial reports was 222 

out of 248, which represents 90%. The high percentage achieved in disclosures may be 

the result of effective monitoring by the securities authority. The Iraq Securities 

Commission decided to suspend trading on the Iraq Stock Exchange of shares of 

companies which did not comply with disclosure obligations (UASA, 2016). Stock 

exchanges are also monitoring companies’ disclosures, but there are additional steps to be 

taken for institutional capacity building, especially in the newly established authorities. 

For example, the Lebanon capital markets authority, established in 2011, has only 3 

permanent staff (IMF, 2017).  

The challenges in monitoring and enforcement persist in MENA economies. These 

include difficulties in ensuring accuracy of information regarding ownership and related 

party transaction information, unless directly disclosed by the company and board 

members. These issues are problematic for MENA economies as is the case for most 

regulators around the world.  

Standardisation of disclosure through regulations (e.g. shareholder statement in Oman), 

cooperation with other parties (e.g. cooperation with the stock exchange in the UAE),  

giving independent experts or the board of directors a central role in ex ante assessment 

of material transactions (e.g. expert view for related party transactions in the UAE, a 

board of directors report for related party transactions in Saudi Arabia) are mainly used to 

monitor disclosure regulations by regulatory authorities, especially in the area of related 

party transactions. 

Formal and informal enforcement is used by MENA supervisory authorities. However, in 

some areas certain enforcement mechanisms are used more commonly. For example, 

forced disclosure and cancellation of illegal related party transactions are common 

enforcement mechanisms in MENA economies (OECD, 2014).  
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8.  KEY CHALLENGES AND POLICY OPTIONS 

8.1. Key findings 

Transparency and disclosure in listed companies is a key component of the corporate 

governance framework needed to promote private sector development in the MENA 

region. Transparency and disclosure facilitates efficient capital allocation and favours the 

establishment of sound capital markets. Ensuring that investor rights are being protected 

attracts domestic and foreign investors to participate in the capital market by creating an 

environment of trust, transparency and accountability.  

Evaluations by international organisations of disclosure regulations and practices in the 

largest MENA listed companies provide some insights into relevant regulations and 

practices in the region: 

‒ Disclosure of ultimate beneficial ownership stakes, other activities and 

directorships held by board members, compensation of individual directors and 

executives and related party transactions is not mandatory in some MENA 

economies (WB, 2017).  

‒ While International Financial Reporting Standards are adopted or approved in 

most MENA economies, International Standards on Auditing are adopted in only 

5 MENA counties.  

‒ In almost all MENA economies (except Djibouti) financial statements of listed 

companies must be audited by an external auditor. But it is not compulsory to 

disclose auditing reports in six MENA economies (Algeria, Djibouti, Iraq, Libya, 

Mauritania and Yemen) (WB, 2017).  

‒ The analysis of the largest listed companies implies that companies’ financial and 

operating results are generally published in annual reports. They also disclose 

non-financial information in their annual reports. However, annual reports in 

Morocco include financial results only (Cigna and Meziou, 2017). 

‒ Environmental, social, and governance (ESG) disclosure are provided by more 

than half of the top 20 companies in the region in a separate report or a dedicated 

section in the company website, as of 2016. 

‒ Remuneration of board members and key executives are disclosed as an aggregate 

only and the link between remuneration and long term company performance is 

usually explained in generic terms by the top 20 companies in the region. 

‒ The roles of CEO and Chairman are separate in the majority of the largest 

20 companies. However the two companies that have combined this role have not 

clearly disclosed the rationale for this decision. 

‒ Criteria for the independence of board members and procedures for the election of 

board members are generally not disclosed by the sample companies. 
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‒ The establishment of Audit Committees, and Nomination and Remuneration 

Committees, is very common among the largest listed  companies. 

‒ The review of practices of the largest MENA listed companies indicates that there 

are areas where transparency and disclosure can be further improved, most 

notably concerning beneficial ownership, qualifications of board members and 

terms of related party transactions. 

‒ In some MENA economies, such as Egypt and Morocco, it is not mandatory to 

publish corporate governance reports as part of annual reports (Cigna, Djuric and 

Sigheartau, 2017, Cigna and Meziou, 2017a). Evidence suggests that corporate 

governance disclosures of listed companies in the region largely remain 

superficial and generic. 

The results of analyses by international organisations and the review of practices of the 

largest 20 listed companies in the MENA region provide some suggestions for 

improvement regarding transparency practices in the region. Nevertheless, the MENA 

regions’ several distinctive characteristics such as domination of state-owned enterprises 

and family-owned companies, particular business culture, small capital markets, small 

institutional investor base and low shareholder involvement constitute notable challenges 

for effective corporate governance implementation. Furthermore, MENA economies need 

to cope with some specific corporate governance issues such as beneficial ownership and 

related party transactions.  

In addition to the general findings summarised above, a review of disclosure regulations 

and practices regarding beneficial ownership and related party transactions highlights the 

following issues:  

‒ Disclosure of beneficial ownership: Similar to global practice, country regulations 

in the region generally require major shareholders and directors of listed 

companies to make disclosures on their ownership. However, country analyses of 

disclosure practices reveal that despite the improvements in regulation, challenges 

persist especially in relation to the identification and disclosure of ultimate 

beneficial owners. 

‒ Disclosure of related party transactions: The definitions of related party 

transactions have generally improved, and greater requirements for disclosure of 

such transactions have been introduced in MENA economies. However, 

requirements in MENA economies vary with respect to the method and timing in 

which related party transactions should be disclosed. Thresholds for disclosure 

and shareholder approval are not adopted in many MENA economies. Regulation 

in MENA economies also varies when it comes to the definition of related parties. 

Yet, many economies recently amended related regulations, and therefore a future 

review of results from their implementation should shed more light on the current 

situation.  

8.2. Policy implications  

MENA economies should continue reform efforts with respect to transparency and 

disclosure practices in order to improve the effectiveness of their corporate governance 

frameworks. Attention should be devoted to the adoption of international best practices 

regulatory framework, enhancing supervisory authority capacity, and shareholder 
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involvement. Advancements in these key areas would contribute to solving all corporate 

governance related challenges in the region.  

Based on the findings, two types of policy options are provided. The first involves 

improvements to the general corporate governance environment; the second concerns 

policies specifically targeting focus issues of the report, namely disclosure of beneficial 

ownership and related party transactions (Figure 3).  

While policy makers are working on several policy options aimed at improving 

transparency and disclosure in the region, companies can take immediate action to 

improve their disclosure practices by updating their website, focusing on material 

information and reducing repetition in disclosures’ content. The review of the largest 

companies in the region shows that reports in English are sometimes not available online. 

In order to attract investors, it is important that company websites are updated regularly 

and that more reports, including corporate governance reports, are made easily available 

online in English. 

Figure 8.1. Main policy areas for better corporate governance disclosure 

 
 

Although these efforts are costly and time consuming, they can offer benefits to the 

economies in general and companies in particular. The ultimate and long term benefits of 

related reforms would lead to more investor confidence, strengthened market reputation 

and fluid access to finance, all of which would contribute to overall economic growth and 

development.  

Key policy options for corporate governance disclosure are summarised in Table 9 and 

further explanations are provided in the following sections. Lastly it should also be 

pointed out that, not all recommendations apply to every country given the different 

stages of developments across MENA economies. Some MENA economies may have 
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already started to take necessary steps for certain issues. Therefore, policy options must 

be tailored to specific circumstances and needs. 

 Table 4: Policy options for corporate governance disclosure 

OBJECTIVE RECOMMENDATIONS 

The process of convergence with international 

standards and best practices should be 

continued. 

Monitor the evolution of international 

developments on disclosure standards and adopt 

the best appropriate models  

The desirable mix of legislation and voluntary 

codes should be defined according to 

economies’ distinctive features 

Consider mandatory regulation in case of low 

compliance level with voluntary rules 

Consider improving disclosures related to 

beneficial ownership, related party transactions, 

other activities and directorships held by board 

members, compensation of directors, auditing 

reports 

Adopt flexible regulation in accordance with the 

needs of different types of companies according 

to size, sector and complexity 

Incorporate corporate governance reports as part 

of annual reports  

Encourage best practices through various means 

such as issuance guidance and regular 

publication of monitoring findings 

Timely, consistent and effective supervision and 

enforcement should be ensured 

Ensure that supervisory authorities have 

operational and financial independence as well 

as adequate powers  

Consider adopting a risk-based supervision 

approach 

Share the results of monitoring and action taken 

against non-compliance with market participants 

Establish clear channels for conveying 

information to authorities and adopt measures 

for the protection of whistle-blowers  

Organise raise awareness activities 

Shareholder engagement should be strengthened Promote active shareholder involvement by 

strengthening investor protection and improving 

public awareness  

Consider different policy alternatives to 

encourage more active shareholder engagement 

from institutional investors such as requiring or 

recommending disclosure of voting policies and 

exercise of voting rights in certain cases  

Strengthen functions of investor relations 

departments of companies 

Full and proper disclosure of ownership 

structure in line with good practice should be 

Adopt an accurate, clear and comprehensive 

definition of beneficial ownership 
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ensured Evaluate the minimum threshold at which 

disclosure is required 

Reconsider the time periods allowed for 

mandatory disclosure to ensure that investors 

receive the information on timely basis 

Consider requiring visually accessible charts 

and figures in disclosure of beneficial ownership 

and control structures 

Access mechanisms used by other countries in 

accessing beneficial ownership and adopt the 

option most appropriate 

Full and proper disclosure of related party 

transactions should be ensured 

Require immediate disclosure on material 

transactions in addition to periodical disclosure, 

where such a requirement is not in place 

Improve definition of related parties to cover all 

parties who may exercise direct and indirect 

control in a transaction  

Consider setting a threshold for immediate 

disclosure based on materiality of the 

transaction 

Encourage or require listed companies to adopt 

and disclose of a related party transaction policy  

Ensure sufficient disclosure well in advance of 

the relevant shareholder meeting in case of ex 

ante shareholder approval of certain material 

related party transactions 

Ensure qualification and independence of 

accounting and auditing sector 

 

8.2.1. Models on Disclosure Regulation 

MENA economies have considerably upgraded their legal and regulatory frameworks in 

recent years. The reforms in protecting minority investors’ rights brought Saudi Arabia 

and United Arab Emirates to rank 10
th
 globally in the WB Doing Business report 

rankings. However, the low rankings of other economies from the region in investor 

protection vis-à-vis 190 economies (Doing Business, 2018) suggests that there is still 

room for further improvement. Therefore, MENA authorities should continue to work 

toward full convergence with international standards and best practices.  

The key international benchmarks in the area are clear. First, the G20/OECD Principles of 

Corporate Governance as a worldwide benchmark provide corporate governance 

standards and practices in several areas including transparency and disclosure.  Other key 

disclosure standards include International Financial Reporting Standards, International 

Standards on Audit and the Objectives and Principles of Securities Regulation of the 

International Organization of Securities Commissions.  With respect to environmental, 

social and governance (ESG) disclosure, a number of international best practice 

recommendations (such as the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, The 

Global Reporting Initiative) are beneficial in addressing national frameworks.  
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Adoption of international standards plays an important role in helping investors decide 

how and where to invest. As institutional investors have started to request not only 

financial information but also non-financial information for their investment decision 

process, policy makers should also monitor the evolution of international developments 

on ESG disclosure as well.  

8.2.2. The choice between mandatory and voluntary disclosure 

Composition of the corporate governance framework differs among economies in the 

region such as binding regulation, self-regulation or optional standards. There are only 

four economies that opt for voluntary implementation of corporate governance codes. 

The desirable mix of legislation and voluntary codes should be defined by competent 

authorities taking into account economies’ distinctive features; each country has its own 

specific conditions related to ownership structure, the size of markets, shareholder 

engagement, capacity of supervisory authorities, and judicial system. Market 

developments and needs should also be reflected in regulation for the optimal level of 

disclosure.  

However, guidance and a voluntary code may be insufficient to achieve good corporate 

governance practices when there are no mandatory regulations on any issue and when 

corporate governance is not market driven as it is the case in MENA. The analysis by 

international organisations and the review of practices of the largest listed companies 

indicate that there are important areas not disclosed by listed companies in the region. 

Policy makers should consider these results while specifying the items that will be subject 

to mandatory disclosure. Ultimate beneficial ownership stakes, related party transactions, 

other activities and directorships held by board members, compensation of individual 

directors and executives and disclosure of auditing reports should be a priority for policy 

makers.  

Regulations should also be flexible enough to take into account the needs of different 

types of companies according to size, sector and complexity. As emphasised by the 

G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, disclosure regulations should not place 

unreasonable administrative or cost burdens on companies.  

Regardless of the composition of the corporate governance framework used, a “comply or 

explain” approach and formal regulation, as well as the quality of disclosures are crucial 

for an effective system. Further, the quality of disclosures becomes even more important 

when a “comply or explain” approach is adopted.  For this reason, it is first necessary that 

companies publish a corporate governance statement. And still, disclosure of corporate 

governance reports remains non mandatory in some MENA economies, such as Morocco 

and Egypt. 

In global practice, a corporate governance statement has become a part of the annual 

reports of listed companies (OECD, 2017b). Generally such statements require that any 

company departing from the corporate governance code must state which sections of the 

code it fails to comply with and the reasons for this non-compliance. As an example, the 

corporate governance statement applied in the EU covers at least the following 

information: 

‒ the corporate governance code to which the company is subject,  

‒ the corporate governance code which the company may have voluntarily decided 

to apply,  
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‒ all relevant information about the corporate governance practices applied over and 

above the requirements of national law. 

Furthermore, the explanations in corporate governance reports must be of adequate 

quality and content to enable investors to make informed decisions. Invalid, overly 

general and limited explanations also limit the benefits of the “comply or explain” 

approach. Hence, one of the challenges regulators face around the world in the corporate 

governance area relates to how to ensure the quality of corporate governance reporting.  

The main means used by regulatory authorities in this area are summarised below: 

‒ Issuance of guidance on fulfilment of disclosure requirements (EU),  

‒ Requirement of independent auditing of some parts of the Corporate Governance 

Codes, primarily those relating to financial reporting and the audit committee 

(UK), 

‒ Adopting a specific template for governance reporting (Spain, Portugal), 

‒ Publishing the monitoring findings including best practices (France).  

Based on best practices, when requirement for such disclosure is not yet in place, it would 

be appropriate to incorporate corporate governance reports as part of the annual reports 

that must be published by companies. Furthermore, competent authorities could provide 

guidance to help companies improve their disclosure practices. Regular monitoring of 

corporate governance disclosures and publication of findings would also encourage best 

practices.  

8.2.3. Supervision and Enforcement 

In order to derive the best results from regulation, adoption of high standards should be 

complemented with timely, consistent and effective supervision and enforcement. In the 

MENA region, effective public monitoring and enforcement is even more essential since 

corporate governance is not market driven and private enforcement tends to be rare.  

To achieve this objective, competent authorities in the area should be operationally and 

financially independent, have adequate powers to adopt supervisory measures and 

implement sanctions. When there is more than one authority for supervision and 

enforcement (i.e. securities regulator and stock exchange), coordination of investigations 

and information sharing is crucial for an efficient system. A memorandum of 

understanding, frequent meetings and dialogue between related authorities are common 

methods used to improve coordination.  

Policy makers should analyse key market conditions to define the most effective 

supervision and enforcement approach for their jurisdiction. It is important for MENA 

authorities to organize monitoring activities by taking into account factors such as market 

needs, priority areas, objectives of the authority, and resource allocation concerns. It is 

essential to prioritise monitoring the implementation of mandatory rules and timeliness of 

disclosure by listed companies.  

MENA region authorities could consider adopting a risk based supervision approach 

which is common among regulators (e.g. Germany, Brazil, Poland, Portugal and Turkey). 

A combination of a risk-based approach and either random sampling, rotation or both can 

also be considered. In developing a risk based approach, factors that may be considered 

for selection criteria include risks related to a specific sector, common findings from 
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previous examinations, complaints received, referrals by other regulatory bodies, issues 

raised in the media and academic research (UNCTAD, 2017).  

Whatever method is used for supervision and enforcement, the results of monitoring and 

action taken against non-compliance should be shared with market participants to 

encourage best practices. This type of information gives a signal to market participants 

that disclosure practices are monitored by the regulatory authority and that non-

compliance could be penalised.  In addition to the “name and shame approach” (i.e. 

punishing by highlighting the name of companies that have poor practices), “name and 

shine approach” (i.e. rewarding by highlighting of name of companies that have good 

practices) is meant to incentivise the companies to adopt better practices. MENA 

supervisory authorities may also consider using external resources, such as universities 

and associations to collect and publish information for corporate governance reporting.  

As securities authorities may initiate investigations based on the information provided by 

investors and whistle blowers, clear procedures and channels for conveying information 

to authorities and measures for the protection of whistle-blowers should be established; 

thus facilitating the reporting of wrongdoing.    

Organising activities to raise awareness contributes to effective implementation of best 

practices. More activities should be conducted through public-private cooperation to 

develop awareness on the benefits of good corporate governance practices especially 

taking into account recent changes in corporate governance frameworks in the region.  

8.2.4. Shareholder engagement 

Investors must also play an active role in supporting better corporate governance 

practices and communicate with investee companies about disclosure gaps. However, 

evidence from the MENA region suggests that shareholder engagement is an issue that 

needs to be addressed. In fact, concentrated ownership structure, the dominance of retail 

investors and the small base of institutional investors in the region lead to low level 

shareholder engagement. 

In such an environment, policy makers can promote active shareholder involvement by 

strengthening investor protection, providing guidance on expected best practices and 

improving public awareness on the rules and benefits of corporate governance disclosure.  

MENA policy makers could also consider different policy alternatives in relation to 

institutional investors such as requiring or recommending disclosure of voting policies 

and exercise of voting rights in cases where they hold more than a certain threshold of a 

corporation’s equity, or regarding voting on material issues. Where institutional investors 

are dominant in the equity market, stewardship codes can also be introduced.Portfolio 

limitations of institutional investors can be reviewed to improve their shareholder 

engagement. Sovereign Wealth Funds, the largest institutional investor category in the 

MENA region, have the potential to contribute significantly to corporate governance 

disclosure by exercising its shareholder rights actively, requiring good corporate 

governance practices from investee companies, direct monitoring and possible exit.   

It is also useful to strengthen functions of investor relations departments of companies, as 

they can contribute to improved corporate disclosure and facilitate shareholder dialogue. 

There are good examples aiming at strengthening the role of investor relations functions 

from the region (Box 8.1).  
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Box 8.1. Initiatives for effective investor relations 

UAE: A new regulation requires all companies listed on UAE exchanges to establish and 

develop an investment relations function starting from 2016. According to this regulation: 

- All companies listed in the UAE must appoint an acting Investor Relations Officer 

with both Arabic and English language capability.  

- Listed company websites must incorporate IR-related disclosures including contact 

details, financial reports, general meetings’ minutes, and any other information 

relevant to the shareholders;  

- The Investor Relations section of the website should include all information or 

statements already disclosed to the markets, regulators and investors, along with any 

statements on changes in the company or shareholders' rights;  

- At least once per year, listed companies are required to publish investor presentations 

showing their financial position, strategy and outlook. 

Qatar: Qatar Stock Exchange launched an Investor Relations Excellence Program in 

2015. The Program surveyed the expert opinion of the domestic and international 

investment community to recognize best practices in investor relations. The program also 

featured a detailed ranking of corporate investor relations websites.  

Source: www.meira.me, Qatar Stock Exchange website 

 

8.3. Recommendations on the disclosure of ownership 

As a key element, disclosure rules in the region must ensure full and proper disclosure of 

ownership structure in line with good practice. Disclosure about ownership must be 

required at least annually and on a timely basis when the ownership threshold requiring 

disclosure has been exceeded. Related regulations around the world usually cover the 

company, substantial shareholders and directors as the subject of the disclosure 

requirement.  

In order to ensure adequate transparency of major holdings, policy makers in the region 

must very carefully determine the minimum threshold at which disclosure is required. 

Given the diversity of goals, needs and market practices, different thresholds are being 

used for disclosure purposes around the world. The threshold of 5% of ownership for 

requiring shareholders to make disclosures is generally accepted as a global norm, but 

thresholds lower than 5% have also been introduced in some countries (such as Ireland, 

Italy, Portugal, Spain and the UK). 

A number of MENA economies implement a threshold of 10% or more. Therefore, in 

MENA economies where such a requirement is not yet in place, policy makers can 

consider lowering the initial disclosure threshold to 5%. Other economies where the 

initial threshold for major holdings disclosure is set at 5% can also analyse the efficiency 

of the disclosure threshold, taking into account their needs and market practices. In a 
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concentrated ownership structure like in MENA, a 5% disclosure threshold may be 

sufficient to capture major shareholders' interests in a company.  Nevertheless, different 

economic considerations can also affect determination of the optimal threshold level. For 

example, when there is a tendency by investors to keep their shareholding slightly below 

the threshold triggering disclosure in order to conceal ownership, lowering the threshold 

could be considered by policy makers.  

 Another key element is that disclosure rules must include an accurate and comprehensive 

definition of beneficial ownership in line with good practice. Not only “de jure beneficial 

ownership” but also “de facto beneficial ownership” should be reflected in disclosure 

regulations. Although MENA economies have already adopted regulations to cover 

disclosure of de facto beneficial ownership, the analysis on country regulations indicates 

that there are some issues that need clarification. Thus, in some economies, regulations do 

not list securities held by a person’s relatives as considered under the control of the 

ultimate beneficial owner, and/or disclosure obligations for those acting in concert with 

the beneficial owner is not defined clearly. 

As unclear obligations allow room for interpretation, this subsequently adds an extra 

burden on companies and hampers corporate transparency, therefore policy makers 

should make improvements to clarify regulations. Policy makers could consider the 

definition of international best practice for beneficial ownership in designing or 

developing their national rules. The OECD (OECD, 2016 ) specifies that : 

a. Securities held by a person’s spouse and/or minor children should be counted as 

securities held by that person; 

b. Ultimate beneficial ownership (through deemed and indirect ownership) should 

be disclosed;  

c. Beneficial owners who have crossed the 5% threshold through “acting in 

concert”, “trust" or “control enhancing” arrangements should be disclosed their 

beneficial ownership position.  

It is also good practice to disclose shareholdings of directors regardless of the percentage 

they own, which is not always the case in the region. 

Authorities should also consider evaluating the effectiveness of time periods implemented 

for mandatory disclosure. The mandated period for disclosure varies between 24 hours 

and 10 days. Such a review would especially be important where a relatively longer 

period such as 10 days is allowed for mandatory disclosure. Particularly changes in major 

ownership interests should be disclosed as soon as the defined thresholds have been 

exceeded. 

Lastly, a problem with regard to timely access to material information by all stakeholders 

may arise in economies where disclosure is made only to the securities regulator (e.g. 

directors’ disclosure rules in Lebanon). In order to avoid possible problems, authorities 

should make all company disclosures available on their website.    

 In addition to adopting a high standard of regulations, regulatory authorities should also 

strive to increase quality of disclosure. Despite the existence of mandatory disclosure 

rules, companies can sometimes engage in ‘grudging’ or ‘boilerplate’ compliance, which 

creates the appearance of disclosure while concealing the true nature of ownership. The 

review of company practices in the region suggests that the same problem prevails in the 

region. In order to prevent such practices, it is argued that requiring visually accessible 
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charts and figures in disclosure of beneficial ownership and control structures is a good 

policy that should be followed (OECD, 2017).  

Beyond public disclosure, competent authorities should also be able to access relevant 

and up to date beneficial ownership information in a timely manner in order to fulfil their 

supervisory tasks. In recent years, the improvements achieved in some economies through 

the implementation of recommendations by international organisations such as G8, G20, 

EU and FATF can constitute examples for MENA policy makers.  The mechanisms used 

include, creating a central register of beneficial ownership of corporate and other legal 

entities and requiring related companies or financial institutions to make available 

accurate information on beneficial ownership. Furthermore, establishing the necessary 

information sharing mechanisms will allow competent authorities to access information. 

It is important to enable them to get, in a timely manner, the information they need for 

monitoring and enforcement purposes. 

8.4. Recommendations on the Disclosure of Related party transactions 

Fighting abusive related party transactions, which is addressed extensively in the 

G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, is high on the policy agenda around the 

world. In addition to the Principles, other OECD works in the regions where concentrated 

ownership is present may also help MENA policy makers to monitor and curb abusive 

related party transactions. For example, the Asian Roundtable Guide on Fighting Abusive 

Related Party Transactions in Asia (Box 8.2) provides recommendations on fighting 

abusive related party transactions focusing on disclosure and the board/shareholder 

approval system which is a common practice in the MENA region. 
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Box 8.2. The Asian Roundtable “Guidelines for fighting abusive related party transactions in 

Asia” 

1. The legal definition of “related parties” should refer to control and be broad 

enough to capture relevant transactions that present a risk of potential abuse. It 

should be sufficiently harmonised within different bodies of law such as company 

law, listing rules and accounting standards in each jurisdiction, to avoid 

misunderstanding and an excessive regulatory burden, thereby underpinning 

better implementation and enforcement.   

2. The legal and regulatory framework for “related party transactions” should 

provide appropriate and effective threshold-based tiers referring to materiality, 

for disclosure and shareholders’ approval and/or board approval of related party 

transactions depending on the risk of potential abuse. It should also take into 

account regulatory efficiency, weighing the potential cost and benefits.  

3. A company should develop and make public a policy to monitor related party 

transactions based on an effective system of checks and balances as well as a 

disclosure process. This can include the possibility for non-controlling 

shareholders to review the independence of directors in a timely manner.   

4. The external auditor should be independent, competent and qualified in order to 

provide an assurance to the board and shareholders that material information 

concerning related party transactions is disclosed fairly, and to alert them of any 

significant concerns with respect to internal control.  The policy framework 

should support this role effectively.    

5. Independent directors should play a central role in monitoring related party 

transactions, such as designing board approval procedures, conducting 

investigations and having the possibility for obtaining advice from independent 

experts. The policy framework must support their role.   

6. Objective judgement in the decision-making process of the board should be 

ensured. This means  giving non-controlling shareholders sufficient influence 

over the nomination and election of directors, in particular independent directors, 

and the design of their incentive structures, such as remuneration policy.  

7. Where reliance is placed on shareholders’ approval, a voting system should be 

established with a majority of disinterested shareholders for the approval of 

related party transactions at Shareholders Meetings.   

8. The legal and regulatory framework should ensure that legal action, including 

specialized courts and alternative dispute resolution, does not prohibit minority 

shareholders from seeking legal redress quickly and cost-effectively.   

9. A coherent regulatory system dealing with related party transactions, particularly 

disclosure, board oversight and shareholder approval should be established in 

each jurisdiction to facilitate implementation and enforcement efforts.  

Source: OECD, 2009 
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The analysis on country regulations (Annex B) indicate that a detailed definition of 

related parties exists in many MENA economies. Thresholds of shareholding that would 

constitute “control” in a company varies from 5% to 30% amongst the reviewed 

economies.  However, further improvements are needed in some cases to cover all parties 

who may exercise direct and indirect control in a given transactional context. As an 

example of further improvement needs,  transactions by controlling shareholders (other 

than the board members) or relatives are not explicitly covered in all cases. Consistency 

of definitions has been improved in a number of MENA economies (e.g. Saudi Arabia 

and the UAE) since the 2014 OECD review, but work should continue to ensure 

harmonised definitions among different bodies of law in each MENA country and to 

avoid misunderstanding and excessive regulatory burden.  

In the MENA region, requiring disclosure of all related party transactions is a common 

practice. Among the reviewed economies, only Saudi Arabia adopted a regime 

distinguishing related party transactions according to their materiality. Instead of 

requiring immediate disclosure of all related party transactions, thresholds can be set for 

material related party transactions requiring immediate disclosure. These thresholds, 

based on the impact of the transaction on certain elements of financial position of a 

company (i.e. gross assets, profits, market capitalization or gross capital), may increase 

the effectiveness of the disclosure system.  Exemption from disclosure requirements of 

certain related party transactions below a determined threshold could minimise 

compliance costs for companies and reduce the regulatory burden. But the system should 

not allow avoidance of disclosure by splitting transactions with the same related party. 

Furthermore, related party transactions that occur within the normal course of operations 

and at arm’s length can be excluded from immediate disclosure requirements. 

The immediate disclosure on material transactions can also be accompanied by a report 

done by an independent expert, the board of directors or the audit committee of the 

company assessing whether or not the transaction is fair and reasonable from the 

perspective of the company and of the shareholders. This good practice is already adopted 

in some region economies (e.g. the UAE).  

Encouragement or requirements of adoption and disclosure of a related party transaction 

policy by listed companies is another possible legal tool that may be considered by 

competent authorities in the region. A disclosed policy will help shareholders and even 

supervisory authorities to check whether the board effectively monitors and approves 

related party transactions. This approach also may lead to the adoption of better policies 

by companies in the area. 

In case of required shareholder approval for related party transactions which is common 

practice in the region, disclosure should include sufficient details to enable shareholders 

to make an informed decision. There are good examples of this approach from the region. 

For example, Oman has detailed rules on disclosure of related party transactions 

(Box 8.3). Ex ante shareholder approval of certain material related party transactions and 

disclosure made well in advance of the relevant shareholder meeting are also essential in 

getting the attention of shareholders as well as the media and financial analysts who may 

be able to put pressure on the company.  
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Box 8.3. The Omani regime for disclosure of related party transactions 

In the event of requesting prior approval of the general meeting, the notice to the 

general meeting must include the following:   

a) Details of transactions as follows: 1. Name of the beneficiary related party. 2. 

Nature of the transaction, terms and conditions, and rationale.  3. Value of the 

transaction 4. Period of completion of the transaction. 5. Any other data 

related to the transaction. 6. An independent valuation carried out in case of 

purchase or disposal of assets.  

b) A note explaining the opinion(s) of the audit committee and the board 

regarding the proposed transaction, and an undertaking to bear responsibility 

for the related party executing the transaction as per the agreement.   

Source: Oman Corporate Governance Code 

 

Lastly, qualification and independence in the accounting and auditing sector must be 

ensured. This is because financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS 

encourage periodic disclosure of related party transactions, along with opinions of 

auditors and accountants, are also crucial for the effectiveness of the disclosure system.  
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NOTES 

1
 Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan, Kuwait, Morocco, Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, 

Tunisia, United Arab Emirates. 

2 
The total market capitalisation reflects the total of 13 MENA economies, namely Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, 

Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, Palestinian Authority, United 

Arab Emirates. 

3 
Blocks of shareholders are defined as the sum of all investors holding more than 5 percent of total 

shares in each company. So, the median blocks are statistics compiled for blocks of shareholders for all 

companies.
 

4 
Around 30 MENA companies are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

. 

5
The Saudi Arabia Capital Market Authority in 26/

3
/2018 announced that the remunerations of senior 

executives mentioned in sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph (4) of Article 93 of the Corporate Governance 

Regulations is to be disclosed collectively.  Companies Law  also set maximum limits on remuneration in 

Saudi Arabia. 

6 
Many economies including Turkey, China, Hong Kong, China, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, 

Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Latvia, 

Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Norway, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Sweden (OECD, 2016, 

ESMA, 2018) use 5% as a minimum threshold triggering disclosure.
 

7.
This threshold is only applicable to non-SME companies.

   

8. 
For non-UK issuers, the threshold is 5%.   
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Annex A. The largest 20 MENA Companies 

Company Name 
Country of 

Exchange 

Exchange 

Name 

NAICS International Industry 

Name 

Company Market 

Capitalisation 

(USD as of 31/12/ 

2016) 

Saudi Basic Industries 

Corporation SJSC 
Saudi Arabia 

Saudi Stock 

Exchange 
Petrochemical Manufacturing 73,182,436,215 

Emirates Telecommunications 

Group Co PJSC 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Abu Dhabi 

Securities 

Exchange 

Wired Telecommunications 

Carriers 
44,527,312,835 

Saudi Telecom Company SJSC Saudi Arabia 
Saudi Stock 

Exchange 

Wireless Telecommunications 

Carriers (except Satellite) 
38,670,791,551 

Qatar National Bank SAQ Qatar 
Qatar 

Exchange 
Commercial Banking 37,569,520,556 

Al Rajhi Banking & Investment 

Corporation SJSC 
Saudi Arabia 

Saudi Stock 

Exchange 
Commercial Banking 27,302,912,310 

Saudi Electricity Company 

SJSC 
Saudi Arabia 

Saudi Stock 

Exchange 
Electric Power Generation 24,891,108,773 

National Commercial Bank 

SJSC 
Saudi Arabia 

Saudi Stock 

Exchange 
Commercial Banking 22,722,423,725 

Industries Qatar QSC Qatar 
Qatar 

Exchange                     
Petrochemical Manufacturing 19,523,096,781 

Jabal Omar Development Co 

SJSC 
Saudi Arabia 

Saudi Stock 

Exchange          

Lessors of Residential Buildings 

and Dwellings 
18,521,594,817 

Almarai Co SJSC Saudi Arabia 
Saudi Stock 

Exchange            

Dairy Product (except Frozen) 

Manufacturing 
14,609,826,974 

DP World Ltd 
United Arab 

Emirates 
Nasdaq Dubai                            Marine Cargo Handling 14,533,300,000 

First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC 
United Arab 

Emirates 

Abu Dhabi 

Sec.Exch.                  
Commercial Banking 14,295,843,494 

Emaar Properties PJSC 
United Arab 

Emirates 

Dubai 

Financial 

Market          

Lessors of Non-residential 

Buildings (except Mini 

warehouses) 

13,899,945,060 

Samba Financial Group SJSC Saudi Arabia 
Saudi Stock 

Exchange              
Commercial Banking 12,988,052,058 

Emirates NBD Bank PJSC 
United Arab 

Emirates 

Dubai 

Financial 

Market           

Commercial Banking 12,850,433,673 

Maroc Telecom Morocco 

Casablanca 

Stock 

Exchange   

Wired Telecommunications 

Carriers 
12,318,091,403 

Saudi Arabian Mining Co SJSC Saudi Arabia 
Saudi Stock 

Exchange               

Other Non-metallic Mineral 

Mining and Quarrying 
12,149,258,092 

National Bank of Kuwait SAKP Kuwait 
Kuwait Stock 

Exchange            
Commercial Banking 11,993,915,909 

Kingdom Holding Co Saudi Arabia 
Saudi Stock 

Exchange                

Hotels (except Casino Hotels) 

and Motels 
11,810,671,400 

Ezdan Holding Group QSC Qatar 
Qatar 

Exchange                            

Lessors of Residential Buildings 

and Dwellings 
11,007,147,369 

Source: Thomson Reuters  
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Annex B. Definition of related party transactions in selected MENA 

economies 

Country Definition of related party transactions1 Sources of the 

definition 

Egypt Related Parties and Groups: means any group that is under 

actual control of the natural or juridical shareholders, or that 

has an agreement on coordination upon voting in the 

meetings of the General Assembly or Board of Directors of 

the company; 

Related Parties: are any party that has a direct or indirect 

relation with the company, giving it influence over the 

company’s decisions, whether this relation is created by the 

party’s position in the company, or in the subsidiaries 

thereof, or by having a significant ownership interest in the 

company/subsidiaries; 

Related Party Transactions: are transactions entered into 

between the company and members of its Board of 

Directors or main shareholders. Approval of the General 

Assembly is to be obtained before implementation of said 

transactions. 

Corporate 

Governance Code 
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Kuwait A party is considered related to a company if: 

1. the person has direct or indirect control over the 

company; 

2. the party is a Subsidiary company; 

3. the party is a member of the same Group in which the 

company is a party to; 

4.  the  party  is  a  Board  Member  of  the  company  or  

member  of  its  executive  management; 

5. the person is a Relative of a related party referred to in 

paragraph (1) or (4); 

6. is a company under the control or combined control of or 

material influence  

of the related parties referred to in paragraph (4) and (5) 

through their direct or  

indirect voting power; 

When  determining  Related  Parties,  the  provisions  of  

the  Law,  Bylaws  and  International Accounting Standard 

No. 24 and amendments thereto shall be taken into account. 

CMA Module I, 

Glossary of 

definitions 
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Lebanon In Lebanese regulation “related party” is not explicity 

defined, however the scope of the term can be inferred from 

the following provision: 

 ‘Any agreement between the company and one of its board 

of directors members, whether entered into a direct manner, 

or under the cover of a third party, requires the general 

assembly’s prior authorization. Ordinary contracts, the 

objects of which are transactions between the company and 

its clients are excepted from the provisions hereof. Shall 

also require the general assembly’s prior authorization 

every agreement between the company and another 

institution (establishment) if one of the board members is 

the proprietor of this institution (establishment), a general 

partner in it, its manager or a member of its board of 

directors. The member who fits in any of these categories 

should inform the board of directors. Each of the board of 

directors and the auditors shall submit to the general 

assembly a special report on the agreements that are 

intended to be entered into, and the general assembly shall 

pass its resolution in the light of these two reports. 

Agreements that have been authorized shall not be 

challenged except in the case of fraud. The authorization 

should be renewed every year if it pertains to contracts with 

successive long term duties. Members of the board of 

directors of the company, unless they are corporate entities, 

are prohibited from receiving from the company, in 

whatever way, a loan, an overdraft facility in their favour, a 

guarantee or a guarantee of financial instruments in favour 

of third parties. However, the said prohibition shall not 

apply with respect to banks, if the referred to operations 

constitute ordinary operations within the scope of these 

banks activities. 

The Lebanese Code 

of Commerce, article 

158 

UAE Federal Related Parties: The Chairman and other members of the 

board of directors and the senior executive management of 

the company and working therein, and the companies in 

which any of such persons holds at least 30% of their share 

capital and subsidiary, associated or sister companies. 

Federal Law No. 2 of 

2015 on Commercial 

Companies 
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Related Parties: The Chairman and members of the Board 

of Directors of the Company, members of the Senior 

Executive Management of the Company, employees of the 

Company, and the companies in which any of such persons 

holds 30% or more of its capital, as well as subsidiaries or 

sister companies or affiliate companies. 

The Chairman of 

Authority's Board of 

Directors' Resolution 

No. (7 R.M) of 2016 

Concerning the 

Standards of 

Institutional 

Discipline and 

Governance of 

Public Shareholding 

Companies 

UAE DIFC A Person is a Related Party of a listed company if that 

Person:  

(i) is, or was within the 12 months before the date of the 

Related Party Transaction:  

(A) a Director or a Person involved in the senior 

management of the Reporting Entity or a member of its 

Group;  

(B) an Associate of a Person referred to in (a)(i)(A); or  

(ii) owns, or has owned within 12 months before the date of 

the Related Party Transaction, voting Securities carrying 

more than 5% of the voting rights attaching to all the voting 

Securities of either the Reporting Entity or a member of its 

Group; or  

(iii) is, or was within the 12 months before the date of the 

Related Party Transaction, a Person exercising or having 

the ability to exercise significant influence over the 

Reporting Entity or an Associate of such a Person. 

DFSA Market Rules 

Saudi Arabia Related party: in the Rules on the Offer of Securities and 

Continuing Obligations, means: 1) affiliates of the issuer; 2) 

substantial shareholders of the issuer; 3) directors and 

senior executives of the issuer; 4) directors and senior 

executives of affiliates of the issuer; 5) directors and senior 

executives of substantial shareholders of the issuer; 6) any 

relatives of persons described at (1), (2), (3), (4) or (5) 

above; 7) any company controlled by any person described 

at (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) or (6) above. 
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Related Parties: A. Substantial Shareholders of the 

company. B. Board members of the Company or any of its 

affiliates and their relatives. C. Senior Executives of the 

Company or any of its affiliates and their relatives. D. 

Board members and Senior Executives of Substantial 

Shareholders of the company. E. Entities, other than 

companies, owned by a Board member or any Senior 

Executive or their relatives. F. Companies in which a Board 

member or a Senior Executive or any of their relatives is a 

partner. G. Companies in which a Board member or a 

Senior Executive or any of their relatives is a member of its 

Board of directors or is one of its Senior Executives. H. 

Joint stock companies in which a member of the Board or a 

Senior Executive or any of their relatives owns (5%) or 

more, subject to the provisions of paragraph (D) of this 

definition. I. Companies in which a Board member or a 

Senior Executive or any of their relatives has influence on 

their decisions even if only by giving advice or guidance. J. 

Any person whose advice or guidance influence the 

decisions of the Company, the Board and the Senior 

Executives. K. Holding companies or affiliates. Advice or 

guidance that is provided on a professional basis by a 

person licensed to provide such advice shall be excluded 

from the provisions of paragraphs (I) and (J) of this 

definition. 

Corporate 

Governance 

Regulations 
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Oman  A person is deemed a related party if such person:  (a) 

was a director of the company, its parent company or an 

of its subsidiary or associate companies in the past  

twelve months. (b) has significant influence  on the 

company and its performance. (c) is among the top 

senior executives of the company or its parent 

company,  such as the chief executive officer, general 

manager or an employee who reports directly to the 

board. (d) holds or controls 10% or more of the voting 

rights in the company, its parent company or any of its 

subsidiary or associate companies. (e) Is a first degree 

relative of any of the persons fulfilling the points  a, b, c 

and d above. (f) Is an associate of any of the business 

entities stated in (3) below,  wherein he/ she holds 

individually  at minimum  25% of the voting rights.   

 An enterprise is deemed a related party if:  (a) It is a 

member of the same group, i.e. a parent enterprise, 

subsidiary or an associate.  (b) It is a  Joint venture of 

the company or related enterprises. (c) Persons 

identified in (2) above hold jointly or severally at 

minimum  25% of voting rights or the right to direct 

their resolutions or have signigifcant control thereof.  

(d) It is a commercial enterprise the directors of which 

act according to the company will. (e) It is pension fund 

or end of service project providing end of service 

scheme for the employees of the company or any of its 

related enterprises.   

 The following entities are not deemed related parties:  

a. Financiers of the company.  

b. Labour syndicates, trade unions and federations.  

c. Public utilities (managed by the government or 

companies under concession contracts).  

Code of Corporate 

Governance for 

Public Listed 

Companies 

Qatar Related party: A person is considered a Related Party to the 

Company if that person is a Board member of the Company 

or a company of its group; is a Member of the Senior 

Executive Management of the Company or any company of 

its group; owns at least (5%) of the Company shares or any 

of its group; or is a relative of any of the former mentioned 

to the second degree. It also includes the legal persons 

controlled by a member of the Board of the Company or 

any company of its group or of Senior Executive 

Management and their relatives to the second degree, or 

that participated in a project or a partnership of any kind 

with the Company or any company of its group. 

Governance Code 

for Companies & 

Legal Entities Listed 

on the Main Market 

(1) The definitions provided in the table are taken directly from the English translations of the relevant country 

regulations. 

Source: The web pages of MENA securities regulators  
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The MENA-OECD Competitiveness Programme is a strategic partnership between Middle 

East and North African (MENA) and OECD economies to share knowledge, expertise and 

good practices. It aims to contribute to the development of inclusive, sustainable and 

competitive economies across the region. The Programme fosters co-ordination between 

the different stakeholders committed to improving the living standards of MENA citizens: 

national and local governments, international and regional organisations, civil society and 

private sector representatives. 

 

The Programme supports reforms to mobilise investment, private sector development and 

entrepreneurship as driving forces for inclusive growth and employment in the MENA 

region, building also on the need to mainstream the region’s increasingly well trained youth 

and women. The Programme covers Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, 

Lebanon, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, Oman, Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, 

Tunisia, United Arab Emirates and Yemen. 

OECD 

DIRECTORATE FOR FINANCIAL AND  

ENTERPRISE AFFAIRS 
www.oecd.org/daf 

 

http://www.google.fr/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwi3597ml-HXAhXCDsAKHQlTAtsQjRwIBw&url=http://pearsonblog.campaignserver.co.uk/?tag%3Dinterventionist-supply-side-policies&psig=AOvVaw0nJjUKYygnnPRxkG2MVCBe&ust=1511955615839647

	MENA_ Transparency and Disclosure
	MENA_ Transparency and Disclosure Cover Pages 14 June
	Disclosure and Transparency Final Draft 14 June

	MENA_ Transparency and Disclosure Cover Pages 14 June
	Blank Page

